
AGENDA 
COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 
Tuesday, January 27, 2026 

3:00 pm 
Council Chambers 

A. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

B. DELEGATION

C. MINUTES/NOTES

1. Council Committee Minutes
- January 13, 2026

2. Council Meeting Minutes
- January 13, 2026

D. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

E. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

F. COMMITTEE REPORTS / DIVISIONAL CONCERNS

1. Councillor Tony Bruder – Division 1
- Carnivores and Communities Program Meeting
- CARLS Board Report December 2025

2. Reeve Rick Lemire – Division 2
3. Councillor Dave Cox– Division 3
4. Councillor Jim Welsch - Division 4
5. Councillor John MacGarva – Division 5

G. ADMINISTRATION REPORTS

1. Operations

a) Public Works Department Report
- Report from Public Works dated January 20, 2026
- Schedule A – Shop/Fleet Report

b) Utilities & Infrastructure Report
- Report from Utilities & Infrastructure dated January 20, 2026

c) Oldman Reservoir Emergency Intake - 2026 Budget Allocation & Capital Adjustment
- Report from Utilities & Infrastructure dated January 20, 2026

d) Cridland Dam - Hydrotechnical and Geotechnical Reports
- Report from Utilities & Infrastructure dated January 20, 2026

2. Finance

a) Request to Waive Tax Penalties – Tax Roll 1736.000
- Report from Finance, dated January 14, 2026

3. Planning and Community Services

a) Bylaw 1365-25 (Traffic Bylaw) *in Council Committee package
- Report from Development, dated January 21, 2026

b) Bylaw 1368-26 (Land Use Bylaw Amendment Secondary Suites)
- Report from Development, dated January 21, 2026

4. Municipal

a) CAO Report
- Report from Administration, dated January 21, 2026

b) Corporate Policy C-CO-009 Enforcement Services Appeal Board & Committee Members
- Report from Administration, dated January 21, 2026

H. CORRESPONDENCE

1) For Action

A



a) Alberta CARE (Coordinated Action for Recycling Enterprises) Seminar 2026  
- Registration Form for March 18 Conference  

b) Pincher Creek & District Municipal Library 
- Question for Motion for Pincher Creek MD Council 

c) RMA Spring Convention – March 16 through 18, 2026 
- Invitation to Meet Minister of Transportation and Economic Corridors 

 
2) For Information  

 
 

a) Alberta Municipalities  
- Recognition of Participating CEIP Communities for Emerald Awards for 

Environmental Excellence 
b) Water and Circular Economy Division, Alberta Environment and Protected Areas 

- Water (Ministerial) Regulation Change - Exemptions to support water availability 
- New Rules Boost Water Storage and Conservation  
- Freedom to Water  

 
I. NEW BUSINESS 

 
J. CLOSED MEETING SESSION 

 
a) Appointment to Agriculture Service Board Committee – ATIA 22.1  
b) Request for use of closed alleyway - Pincher Station – ATIA 28.1  
c) Road Closure and Purchase Request – Adjacent to Block 2, Plan 9411612 – ATIA 28.1  
d) Road Closure Resolution Portion of Uncancelled Road Plans 197BM & 3299BZ – ATIA 28.1  
 

K. ADJOURNMENT 



`MINUTES 
REGULAR COUNCIL COMMITTEE MEETING 

MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 
Tuesday, January 13, 2026,  

11:00 am 
Council Chambers 

Present: Reeve Rick Lemire, Deputy Reeve Tony Bruder, Councillors John MacGarva, Jim Welsch and Dave 
Cox. 

Staff: CAO Roland Milligan, Director of Corporate Services Meghan Dobie, Public Works Manager Alan McRae, 
Utilities & Infrastructure Manager David Desabrais, Planner Gavin Scott, Development Officer Laura McKinnon, 
and Executive Assistant Jessica McClelland.  

Reeve Rick Lemire called the meeting to order, the time being 11:00 pm. 

1. Approval of Agenda

Councillor Dave Cox  

Moved that the agenda for January 13, 2026, be approved as presented. 

Carried 

2. Delegations

3. Closed Session

Councillor Jim Welsch 

Moved that the Council move into closed session to discuss the following, the time being 11:01 pm. 

a) Delegation - Alberta Environment and Protected Areas – ATIA Sec. 29.1
b) Public Works Call Log – ATIA Sec. 29.1
c) Safety Issue Third Party – ATIA Sec. 19.1
d) Pincher Creek Emergency Services Commission Master Agreement – ATIA Sec. 28.1

Councillor John MacGarva 

Moved that Council move out of closed session, the time being 1:45 pm. 

Carried 

4. Round Table

• Possible library expansion
• Business licensing
• 911 Addressing concerns

o Education component for how to state your rural address
 Social media, tax notices, newsletter, newspaper

C1



REGULAR COUNCIL COMMITTEE MEETING 
MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 
TUESDAY JANUARY 13, 2026 
 
5.  Adjournment 
 

Councillor Tony Bruder 
 
Moved that the committee meeting adjourn at 2:13 pm.  

 
         Carried 

 
             

     REEVE 
 

       
      CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 



MINUTES  10060 
MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
JANUARY 13, 2026 

The Regular Meeting of Council of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 was held on Tuesday, 
January 13, 2026, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal District Administration Building, 
Pincher Creek, Alberta. 

PRESENT Reeve Rick Lemire, Deputy Reeve Tony Bruder, and Councillors Dave Cox, John 
MacGarva and Jim Welsch. 

STAFF CAO Roland Milligan, Director of Corporate Services Meghan Dobie, Public Works 
Manager Alan McRae, Utilities & Infrastructure Manager David Desabrais, 
Development Officer Laura McKinnon, and Executive Assistant Jessica McClelland. 

Reeve Rick Lemire called the meeting to order at 3:00 pm. 

A. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

Councillor Jim Welsch     26/001

Moved that the agenda for January 13, 2026, be amended to include:

Action: 

e) Regional Waste Technology Presentation

AND THAT the agenda be approved as amended. 

Carried 
B. DELEGATIONS

C. MINUTES

1) Council Committee Meeting Minutes – December 9, 2025

Councillor John MacGarva    26/002

Moved that the minutes of the Council Committee Meeting of December 9, 2025, be
approved as presented.

Carried 

2) Council Meeting Minutes – December 9, 2025

Councillor Tony Bruder    26/003

Moved that the minutes of the Council Meeting of December 9, 2025, be approved as
presented.

Carried 

3) Special Council Meeting Minutes – December 17, 2025

Councillor Dave Cox     26/004

Moved that the minutes of the Special Council Meeting of December 17, 2025, be
approved as presented.

Carried 

D. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

December 9, 2025 – Delegation

C2



10061 
Minutes  
Council Meeting 
Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9  
January 13, 2026 
 

a) Northback Presentation 
 

Councillor Dave Cox     26/005 
 
Moved that the presentation from Northback, from the December 9, 2025, Council 
meeting, be received as information.  
 
       Carried  

  
December 17, 2025 - Delegation  
 

b) Pincher Creek Municipal Library Presentation and Formal Request  
 

Councillor Dave Cox     26/006 
 
Moved that the Pincher Creek Municipal Library presentation from the Special Council 
meeting of December 17, 2025, be received as information. 
 
       Carried  
 
Council will review the request from the Pincher Creek Municipal Library once 
appropriate agreements are in place with the current landowner, the Town of Pincher 
Creek.  
 
c) RIPPLE Community Fund Brochure  

 
Councillor Tony Bruder    26/007 
 
Moved that the RIPPLE brochure presented at the Special Council meeting of 
December 17, 2025, be received as information, 
 
AND THAT the MD promote the program through social media and the MD website. 
 
       Carried  

 
E.  BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES   
 
F. COMMITTEE REPORTS / DIVISIONAL CONCERNS 
   

1. Councillor Tony Bruder – Division 1 
- Agricultural Service Board Trade Show Event  
- Pincher Creek Regional Emergency Management Organization  
- Elected Officials Course – Emergency Management  
- Holiday Train Kudos  
- Waterton Biosphere  
- Crowsnest Pincher Creek Landfill Association  

2. Reeve Rick Lemire – Division 2 
- Pincher Creek Emergency Services Commission  
- Holiday Train Kudos  
- Alberta Southwest 
- Municipal Addressing clarification for calling 911  

3. Councillor Dave Cox– Division 3 
- Community Fund Cheque Presentation  
- Pincher Colony Tour  
- Holiday Train Kudos  
- Castle Mountain Resort Community Association  

4. Councillor Jim Welsch - Division 4  
- Pincher Creek Emergency Services Commission 

• Suggestion to invite Fire Chief and EMS to Coffee with Council  
- Pincher Creek Foundation  

5. Councillor John MacGarva – Division 5 
- Lundbreck Citizens Council  

 



10062 
Minutes  
Council Meeting 
Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9  
January 13, 2026 
 

Councillor Dave Cox     26/008 
 
Moved to accept the Committee Reports as information. 

 
Carried 
 

G. ADMINISTRATION REPORTS  
 

1. Operations  
 

a)  Public Works Operations Report  
 
Councillor John MacGarva    26/009 
 
Moved that Council receive the Public Works Operations Report, including
 Schedule A – Shop/Fleet Report, for the period December 1, 2025, to January 4, 
2026, as information. 
 

Carried 
 

b)   Utilities & Infrastructure Report  
 
Councillor John MacGarva     26/010 
 
Moved that Council receive the Utilities & Infrastructure report for December 3, 2025, 
to January 7, 2026, as information.  
 
       Carried  
 
c)   Community Events Board - 2026 Budget Allocation 
 
Councillor Tony Bruder    26/011 
 
Moved that Council approve $22,000 in 2026 funds from the MD Buildings Reserve for 
the Community Events Board for a project total of $45,000. 
 
       Carried  
 

2.   Finance   
 

a) Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) Policy – C-HR-003  
 

Councillor Jim Welsch     26/012 
 
Moved that Council rescind policy A-ADM-001 Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP);  
 
AND THAT Council approve policy C-HR-003 Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). 
 
        Carried  
 
b) Request to Waive Tax Penalties – Tax Roll 1940.020 

 
Councillor Tony Bruder    26/013 
 
Moved that Council deny waiving the tax penalties on tax roll 1940.020 in the amount of 
$263.19. 
 
        Carried  

  



10063 
Minutes  
Council Meeting 
Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9  
January 13, 2026 
 

c) Request to Waive Tax Penalties – Tax Roll 6091.450 
 

Councillor Jim Welsch     26/014 
 
Moved that Council deny waiving the tax penalties on tax roll 6091.450, in the amount of 
$1,279.42. 
 
        Carried  

 
3.   Development and Community Services 
 

a) Bylaw 1366-25 Community Standards Bylaw 
 

Councillor Tony Bruder    26/015 
 
Moved that Bylaw 1366-25, being the Community Standards Bylaw, be given second 
reading. 
 
       Carried 
 
Councillor Dave Cox     26/016 
 
Moved that Bylaw 1366-25 be given third and final reading. 
 
       Carried  
 

4. Municipal  
 

a)    CAO Report  
 
Councillor John MacGarva    26/017 
 
Moved that Council receive the CAO Report for the period December 6, 2025, to 
January 4, 2026, as information. 
 
       Carried  

 
H.         CORRESPONDENCE 
 

A.       For Action 

a) Slopes Studio – Creative Resistance (re: Grassy Mountain matter)  

Councillor Tony Bruder    26/018 

Moved that the Slopes Studio – Creative Resistance (re: Grassy Mountain matter), be 
received as information. 

        Carried  

b) Community Grant Specialist  
 

Councillor Tony Bruder     26/019 
 
Moved that Council authorize the following letters of support:  

- Southwest Alberta Search and Rescue Society and  
- Pincher Creek Community Hall. 

 
Carried  

  



10064 
Minutes  
Council Meeting 
Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9  
January 13, 2026 
 

c) Request from Town of Pincher Creek to Co-Host Event  

Councillor Dave Cox     26/020 

Moved that the MD agree to partner with the Town for a joint event during Seniors’ 
Week 2026, 40th Anniversary of Intergenerational Day. 

       Carried  

d) Water Act Concerns - Beaver Mines Creek (Downstream Impacts) - List of Concerns 
from Tom Judd and Tori Bailer  

Councillor Dave Cox     26/021  

Moved that Council direct administration to send a letter to Tom Judd and Tori Bailer 
regarding their concerns about the downstream impacts of Beaver Mines Creek and other 
water act concerns, stating that all water licensing is done by Alberta's Environment and 
Protected Areas, that Municipalities don’t have jurisdiction, and that we share the same 
concerns about transparency.  
        Carried  
 
Councillor Tony Bruder    26/022 
Moved that a letter be sent to the Minister of Alberta Environment and Protected Areas 
expressing concern about the approval process for statements of concern regarding 
changes to a water licence, including issuing of new licenses, requesting that notification 
be provided in a public format and directly to the local Municipality where the project is 
occurring.  

         Carried  

e)   Regional Waste Technology Presentation 

Councillor Jim Welsch     26/023  

Moved that Councillor Tony Bruder be authorized to attend the Regional Waste 
Technology Presentation on February 4, 2026, from 3:30-5:00 pm in the Town of 
Claresholm Council Chambers.  

        Carried    

 B.  For Information   

Councillor John MacGarva    26/024 

  Moved that the following be received as information:  

a) Name that Grader  
- Poster – Submissions due before January 31, 2026  

b) Quest Report (Net-Zero Communities Accelerator Program)  
- Updated Benchmark Assessment Report for December 2025  

c) Southwest Alberta Rural Crime Watch 
- Advertisement for January 21, 2026, Meeting  

d) Honourable Mike Ellis, Deputy Premier of Alberta, Minister of Public Safety and 
Emergency Services 
- Update on Changes to Alberta’s Police Funding Model 

e) Municipal Affairs  
- Municipal Musings December Newsletter  

f) Honourable Ric McIver, MLA 
- Letter of Congratulations on Election to Municipal Office 

g) Public Safety and Emergency Services  
- Police Funding Model Changes - Preliminary Estimation Process 
-  

Carried  



10065 
Minutes  
Council Meeting 
Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9  
January 13, 2026 
 
I.     NEW BUSINESS 
 
J.     CLOSED SESSION  
 

Councillor Jim Welsch      26/025 
 
Moved that Council move into closed session to discuss the following, the time being 5:14 pm. 
 

a) Request to Upgrade Road to Minimum Standard – ATIA Sec. 29.1  
 
Councillor Dave Cox      26/026 
 
Moved that Council move out of closed session, the time being 5:28 pm. 
 

Carried 
 
 a)   Request to Upgrade Road to Minimum Standard  
 
 Councillor Dave Cox      26/027 
 

Moved that Tom Judd be authorized to clear trees along the MD undeveloped road allowance 
adjacent to SW 13-06-02 W5M to allow vehicular access to his parcel in the NE 14-06-02 W5M, 
pending authorization with Environment and Protected areas (EPA) regarding provincial water 
act regulations,  
 
AND THAT should a development occur on his parcel in the future, he will need to reapply and 
build to a minimum standard, as per policy C-PW-019 (Minimum Standard Policy)  
 

Carried   
 

K.    ADJOURNMENT  
 

Councillor Jim Welsch     26/028 
 
Moved that Council adjourn the meeting, the time being 5:30 pm. 
 
        Carried 
 
 

              
    REEVE 

 
       

      CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 



info@watertonbiosphere.com

www.watertonbiosphere.com

UPCOMING

 COMMUNITY
 MEETINGS

UPCOMING
 COMMUNITY

 MEETINGS

Carnivores and

Communities Program

Carnivores and

Communities Program

W O R K I N G  T O  R E D U C E  C O N F L I C T
W I T H  L A R G E  C A R N I V O R E S

L e a r n  t h e  l a t e s t  n e w s  a b o u t  c a r n i v o r e s  a n d  t o o l s
y o u  c a n  u s e  t o  h e l p  r e d u c e  t h e  r i s k  o f  c o n f l i c t

For more information on these community meetings you

can contact the CACP Coordinator Jeff Bectell at 

403-653-2219 or jbectell@watertonbiosphere.com.

Meeting Dates & Locations

Featured Speakers

Topics Include

Resources available to help decrease large

         carnivore conflict on farms & acreages

Large carnivore occurrence record trends

Predator compensation survey results

Alberta Wildlife Responder Program

F e b .  1 1 t h  -  P i n c h e r  C r e e k  M D  O f f i c e

F e b .  1 2 t h  -  C a r d s t o n  T a n n e r  S e n i o r s  C e n t r e

F e b .  1 0 t h  - C l a r e s h o l m  C o m m u n i t y  C e n t r e

All meetings run from 6 - 9 p.m.

J e f f  B e c t e l l ,  C A C P  P r o g r a m  C o o r d i n a t o r
A n d r e a  M o r e h o u s e ,  C A C P  S c i e n c e  L e a d
P a u l  F r a m e ,  A l b e r t a  C a r n i v o r e  S p e c i a l i s t

F1a

mailto:jbectell@watertonbiosphere.com


BOARD
REPORT
Chinook Arch Library Board Meeting - December 4, 2025

Executive Elections
The following trustees were elected to the

Board’s Executive Committee for 2025-2026:

Darryl Christensen 

Jim Monteith 

Marie Logan 

Directors-At-Large:
Mark Barber

Doreen Glavin

Melissa Jensen

Doug Logan

Maryanne Sandberg

Allan Quinton

Thank you to everyone who volunteers their

time to sit on the Executive Committee!

                                (Town of Magrath) – Chair

                       (Town of Fort Macleod) – Treasurer

                      (Village of Lomond) - Vice Chair*
*The position of Vice Chair is up for election in 2026.

                      (Town of Pincher Creek)

                         (Municipality of Crowsnest Pass)

                          (Town of Nobleford)

                      (Vulcan County)

                                   (MD Willow Creek)

                        (Lethbridge Public Library rep)

Thank you to Outgoing Trustees
The board and staff of Chinook Arch would like to

thank the following outgoing trustees for their

service and support.

Terry Penney (Village of Champion)

Marsha Jensen (Town of Cardston)

Justin Davis (Village of Stirling)

Christopher Northcott (Village of Milo)

Tom Nish (Cardston County)

Merrill Harris (MD of Taber)

Monica McLean (Town of Taber)

Dave Cox (Pincher Creek MD)

Lesley Little (ID #4 Waterton)

Kelly Jensen (Town of Raymond)

Anne Michaelis (Town of Milk River)

Tory Campbell (Lethbridge County)

Lyndsay Montina (Town of Coalhurst)

Jenn Schmidt-Rempel (City of Lethbridge)

Ron Gorzitza (Village of Barons)

Linda Allred (Village of Glenwood)

Morgan Rockenbach (Warner County)



facebook.com/

chinook.arch7

@chinooklibs

Contact Us
Chinook Arch Regional Library System

2902 7th Avenue North

Lethbridge, AB  T1H 5C6  |  403-380-1500

www.chinookarch.ca  |  arch@chinookarch.ca

Policies Approved
The board reviewed and approved the following policies. All board

policies are reviewed once every three years, or as necessary.

All policies can be found on the Chinook Arch website at

https://chinookarch.ca/about-us/board-policies.

Gifts in Kind

Records Retention

Expenses

Employee Benefits

Hours of Work and Overtime

Personnel Files

30
Board Members Present
Corry Walk – Village of Arrowwood
Belinda Rempel – Village of Barons
Tim Court – Town of Cardston 
LeGrande Bevans – Cardston County
Lori Harasem – Town of Coalhurst
Stephen Pain – Village of Coutts
Doreen Glavin – Municipality of Crowsnest Pass
Jim Monteith – Town of Fort Macleod 
Suzanne French – Village of Hillspring
Al Beeber – City of Lethbridge
Kevin Slomp – Lethbridge County 
Marie Logan (Vice Chair) – Village of Lomond
Darryl Christensen (Chair) – Town of Magrath
Dorothy Fraser – Town of Milk River
JoAnne LeBlanc – Village of Milo
Crystal Neels –Town of Picture Butte
Mark Barber – Town of Pincher Creek
Chelsey Hurt – Town of Stavely 
Stacey Maynes – Village of Stirling
Naomi Wiebe – Town of Taber 
Tamara Miyanaga – Taber MD
Lorraine Kirk – Town of Vulcan
Doug Logan – Vulcan County
Derek Baron – Village of Warner
David Nilsson – County of Warner
Maryanne Sandberg – Willow Creek MD
Allan Quinton – LPL Resource Centre 

Regrets
Blanche Anderson – Village of Carmangay 
Judy Perkin – Village of Champion
Jordan Sailer – Town of Coaldale
Amanda Bustard – Town of Nanton
Melissa Jensen – Town of Nobleford
Marilyn Forchuk – Town of Vauxhall

Not Present
Jane Johnson – Village of Barnwell 
Brad Schlossberger - Town of Claresholm
John Doney – Village of Glenwood
Tony Bruder – Pincher Creek MD
Kate Kindt – Town of Raymond

2026 Operating
Budget Approved
The Board reviewed and approved

its 2026 Operating Budget, with a

forecast surplus of $209. 

https://chinookarch.ca/about-us/board-policies


Recommendation to Council

TITLE: PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT REPORT

PREPARED BY: Alan McRae DATE: January 20, 2026

DEPARTMENT: Public Works

ATTACHMENTS:

l.Shop/Fleet Report

APPROVALS:

Public Works Manager

January 20, 2026

Date

y^

CAO Date

RECOMMENDATION:

THAT Council accepts the Public Works Department Report for the period of January 5 to January

18, 2026, as information.

Permanent snow fence maintenance- R&R PSF04-31 in Div 4 (Gap Road)
Permanent snow fence maintenance- Repair PSF04-25 (Ashvale Road)

Gravel pit operations- Sloping work done in Waldron pit after crushing operations.

Gravel pit operations- Tank tmck to wash dozer at Waldron before moving it to Summerview.
Gravel pit operations- Dirt work in Summerview pit that cmsher requested.

Gravel pit operations-Scrape floor at Heritage pit- Dozer, hoe and leader- OTJ training opportunity

Bridge maintenance- Replace hazard markers on BF74119 and reset all markers on BF8586.

Water services maintenance- Put up and take down delineators and repair ground at Pincher standpipe.
Park maintenance- Cut up and remove blown down trees within Beaver Mines Park.

Park maintenance-Empty garbage's at Fatten Park and dog park, fix dog on leash sign at Patton Park

Gravel road maintenance- Grading and ice removal
Hard surface maintenance-Plowing

AES/Airport operations- Haul water to terminal and shop

Guard rail maintenance-Inspect damage to cable on Summerview road hill, set up delineators and order

parts.

Culvert Maintenace-Put together a list of culverts needing replaced in 2026 for planning purposes.
Texas gate maintenance- Put together list of Texas gates that need replaced in 2026 for planning purposes.
Safety- Safe work practice review, bis trainer courses.

Presented to: Council

Date of Meeting: January 27, 2026
Page 1 of 2

G1a



PUBLIC WORKS REPORT SCHEDULE "A"

SHOP/FLEET OPERATIONAL REPORT

PREPARED BY: Brett Ackerman

DEPARTMENT: Public Works

HS&^€\

DATE: January 19, 2026

ATTACHMENTS: N/A

SHOP/FLEET OPERATIONS SUMMARY: January 05, 2026 - January 18, 2026

Graders

Unit # 070 (160) - Leak on differential lock valve.
Unit # 073 (150) - Fuel/Water sensor warning. Loose plug on sensor.

Unit # 074 (150) - Initial 250hr service. Install beacon and slow-moving signage.

Unit # 075 (150) - Upfit new unit. Dash cam, 2-way, MRJF, Wabasso, Chain rack, Dozer blade.

Heavy Trucks/Trailers/Eduipment

Unit # 434 (water truck) - emissions, EGR valve replacement, turbo lines, door light switch, water valves on tank

repair and replace.
Unit # 080 (Renn LB) - CVEP.
Unit # 007 (Cat Leader) - Emissions code. R&R soot sensor.

Unit # 007 SB (snow blade) - Straighten skid shoe leg. Install new retaining bolt on mount pin.
Unit # 007 (Cat Leader) - Field service by OK Tire, flat repair.

Light Duty and Light Trailers

Unit # 477 (Chev 3500) - stalling, diesel fuel heater/filter housing, exhaust mounts, fuel filter and primer assembly.

Unit # 501 (Chev 2500) - wiper arm transmission stripped. R&R. Flat repair.
Unit # 488 (Chev 2500) - Oxygen sensor R&R.
Unit # 479 (Chev 2500) - Battery R&R.
Unit # 509 (Chev 2500) - Lube - Oil -Filter.
Unit # 503 (Chev 2500 - Lube - Oil - Filter. Lubricate caliper slides.

EVENTS

Hotsy pressure washer repaired by Hosty Lethbridge. High pressure/heat bypass valve replaced.



M.D. OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9

UTILITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE REPORT 

DATE: January 27th, 2026        Page 1 of 11 

SUMMARY OF MAJOR UPDATES SINCE JAN. 8th – 20th  
GENERAL PROJECTS 

• 2026 budget approved for Community Events Board closeout.
• Project invoice processing 90% complete for all 2025 projects with exception Events Board, and

Oldman Reservoir Intake project.

LARGE (PRE-2026) PROJECTS 

• Working to order Potassium Permanganate Treatment for VIS intakes, 2026 budget required.
• Events Board finalized install anticipated to be complete by Council, followed by training.
• Watercourse Remediation Program Status Report 5 complete.
• BF 75481 Olin Creek: Revise land package fully executed. Awaiting contractor revisions to

TAS/detour prior to kickoff.
• Closeout UROW/road plan survey work complete. Sent back to surveyor for land titles closeout.

LARGE 2026 IMPLEMENTATION PROJECTS 

• No major updates.

LARGE 2027+ IMPLEMENTATION PROJECTS 

• No major updates.

STUDIES & PLANNING WORK 

• Transportation Master Plan: Received draft proposal of revised road classifications, under
review prior to report finalization.

• Cridland Dam: Final spillway (hydrotechnical) report and geotechnical report presented to
Council for information.

• 10-Year Bridge Study update: Review complete of draft report, finalization anticipated by
Council meeting.

Operations Updates 

• Water restriction risk scoring being updated once/month due to low risk.
• 2025 Implementation Report complete Jan. 14th.
• Working to calibrate standpipes to new pricing and to come up with a solution regarding PC

standpipe getting stuck on.
• Sewer Service Line blockage identified in Lundbreck. Emergency excavation and repair complete.
• Cowley leak remerged Jan 18th, under repair
• Contravention regarding Level II Treatment certifications formally closed out (contractor

successfully accelerated certification)
• Fort Macleod MoU for backup under final steps, organizing orientation
• Revised shared operations agreement with Cowley fully executed.

G1b



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 2 of 11 

General Projects Budget Update 
2026 Approved Budget: $3,111,000. Jan 19th Spent: $0 
*Graphic under development 
 
2025 Approved Budget: $3,862,000. Jan 19th Spent: $2,029,909 Jan 
5th Spent: $1,512,034 

 
 
Large Ongoing Projects (Pre-2026 Construction Start) 

 
Oldman Reservoir Water Intake Low Level Project 

o $1.68M grant application finalized Jan 30th, 2024 
 Approval received for $1.8M project, covering up to 75% of costs 

o DFPP (Drought and Flood Protection Program) grant application approved, topping up 
Capital Project and covering 70% of costs for a Drought Projects Assessment 

o Due to rising reservoir levels, access will not be possible this Winter to intakes for 
further troubleshooting 

o Potassium Permanganate treatment setup order placed, scoping install 
location/building 

o Additional budget request made to Council Jan 20th 
 

  



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 3 of 11 

Watercourse Crossing Inspection & Remediation Project – 100% Grant funded 
o Funding agreement signed Mar. 28th, 2023 for $1.55M 

 Extension received to March 31st, 2027  
o Status report 5 complete for up to Dec. 31st 

 
Bridge File 75481 – TWN RD 93B over Olin Creek Trib., SW-23-009-01 W5M 

 
1.5m x 24m L culvert with high deflection and corrosion. Replace with two (2) 1.2m x 
36m L CSPs 
 

o Tender closed Nov. 4th. Ten (10) bids received. Awarded to low bidder (Vitae 
Environmental Ltd.) for $277,910 (Eng. Est. $299,357) 

o Preliminary engineering complete Oct. 11th. STIP unsuccessful  
o Council approved Mar. 31st, 2026 construction completion date at Sep. 23rd meeting 
o Revised legal plan received Oct. 6th. Working to closeout alternate land plan with 

landowner prior to mobilization (road ROW swap) 
 Surveyor has finalized plan and land agent has signed new package with 

landowner, executed and returned 
o Contractor has initiated contact with MD regarding work proceeding. Working 

through deliverables, major revisions required on TAS 
 
Meyers Corner Road Culvert Replacement 
 

Replace failed 900mm culvert via boring method with 1.37m x 35m welded pipe 
 

o Work substantially complete. Temp. fence to be removed in Spring to allow seed to take 
o UROW and road plan registration survey complete, sending to land titles. 

 
Community Events Board, Admin Building 
 

Single sided electric community events board on Admin building to advertise current 
events and upcoming meetings 

 
o Sign installation complete Dec., 2025 with hookup test complete Jan., 2026. 
o Exterior installation work complete, finalizing interior tie in work prior to training. 

 
Bridge File 70175 – Yarrow Creek Bridge Rehabilitation, NW-22-003-030 W4M 

 
Perform a pile splice repair on two piles in the west abutment, replace the east pile cap, 
place fill and riprap at the west headslope, minor wheel guard repairs & repairs to 
timber span, channel realignment, and west abutment riprap work 

 
o UROW and road plan registration survey complete, sending to land titles. 
o Construction complete including lattice rail installation, final inspection Dec. 5th. 

Seeding has not taken significantly, to be reviewed in Spring. 
 

WCR #1: Iron Creek under Tapay (Carbondale) Road, LSD SE-15-006-03 W5M 
 
Install new 4.7m x 2m x 15m L corrugated steel box culvert to remediate fish passage 
concerns on Iron Creek under the WCR program (100% funded) 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 4 of 11 

 
o Project complete 
o UROW registration survey complete, sending to land titles 

 
Bridge File 70417 – TWN RD 70 over Castle River Trib., SE-05-007-01 W5M 

 
6.1m clear span bridge with extensive rot and voids in piles and pile caps. Replace 
with two (2) 2m x 27m L CSPs 
 

o Project complete including hydroseed 
o UROW and road plan registration survey complete, sending to land titles 

 
Bridge File 00470 – Toney Rd over Pincher Creek Trib., SE-02-006-01 W5M 

 
1.6m x 43m L culvert with significant perforations and minor deflections. Install Steel 
Wall Pipe Liner (SWPL) 
 

o Construction complete 
o Road plan registration survey complete, sending to land titles 

 
 

Large Projects Planned for 2026 Implementation 

Lundbreck Wastewater Main Rehabilitation between Railway/Park St. 
 
2021 inspection and subsequent wastewater study determined MH 5 to 6 is aggregate 
material and a good candidate for trenchless rehabilitation. Work required to install 
Cured in Place Pipe (CIPP). 
 

o To be kicked off 
 
WCR #3: Connelly Creek under Connelly Rd (BF 1348), LSD SW-03-008-02 W5M 

 
Replace or design a maintenance solution for the 3m x 49m L (5.6m cover) structural 
plate corrugated steel pipe (SPCSP) and remediate fish passage under the WCR 
Program. 
 

o STIP application submitted Nov. 24th 
o Received funder guidance/approval to proceed with prelim eng. under WCR program 
o Council approval received Mar. 11th, 2025 
o Preliminary engineering kicked off Apr. 3rd, awaiting completion 
o Survey complete Apr. 25th 

 
Bridge File 71542 – Waldron Flats over Indian Creek, SE-07-010-01 W5M 

 
2m x 2.2m x 32m L culvert with isolated perforations in the roof of 3 rings and 1 ring 
on the foot. Replace with a 2.7m diameter x 48m long culvert. 
 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 5 of 11 

o STIP application submitted Nov. 24th 
 
 
Bridge File 76203 – West End Maycroft over Ernst Creek, NW-26-010-03 W5M 

 
2.5m x 1.8m x 20m L culvert with 3 cracked rings in sidewall with 85mm remaining. 
Deflection and corrosion also present. Replace with two (2) 1.8m diameter x 28m L 
culverts. 
 

o STIP application submitted Nov. 24th 
 

Pisony Road over Cow Creek Tributary Culvert, LSD NE-01-009-03 W5M 
 

1m x 14m L culvert failing on dead end road. Dual 1m x 13m L culverts are 
anticipated solution. 

 
o Preliminary engineering and basic aquatic assessment kicked off Jan. 31st, 2025 with 

Roseke. Reduced prelim. eng. scope compared to Bridge Files. 
o Preliminary engineering assessment received Jun. 16th. Under review. 
o Anticipate Fall 2026 construction. 

 
Large Projects Planned for 2027 Implementation 
 
Gladstone Rd. over Mill Creek Trib., LSD SE-01-006-02 W5M 
 

0.6m x 17m L culvert failing and causing significant scour and erosion downstream. 
Preliminary engineering required to determine replacement requirements. 

 
o Located on an unmapped Class A waterbody. Fish passage not expected to be required 

due to downstream barriers. 
o Revising proposal based on reduced scope of DFO requirements. 
o Potential for project to get accelerated to 2026. 
 

Southfork Hill Road 
 

Emergent investigatory and repair work for the Southfork Hill slide issues 
 

o STIP LMI resubmission complete Nov. 27th, 2025. 
o Geotechnical scope awarded and complete. Final geotech. report received Dec 9th.  

o Initial STIP application submitted Nov. 28th, 2024 – Unsuccessful. 
o Project paused pending further deterioration or future grant opportunities. Design work 

pending STIP decision. 
 
  



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 6 of 11 

Therriault Dam – Rehabilitation Work 
 

Geotechnical and Hydrogeology study complete in 2023. 2024 preliminary engineering 
determined most economically viable solution to address undersized spillway/overtop 
potential. 2025 work included detailed design work to rehabilitate spillway. 2026 work set 
to begin after DFPP funding decision and (if successful) shall include a lifecycle 
assessment on how to best use water source during drought. 

 
o DFPP application submitted Nov. 27th. Anticipate response Q1 2026. 
o Spillway design complete, regulatory submissions pending grant timing.  
o Significant amount of history related to Therriault Dam reviewed during application 

process. Disaster Recovery Program (DRP) accessed in 1995, 2002, 2005, 2010, and 
2014 related to Therriault Dam and spillway rebuilds. About $600,000 spend (inflation 
adjusted) on flood recovery since 1994. A flood was also noted in 2006. 

o Additional design work pending grant decision.  
 
Bridge File 73608 – Twin Butte Rd. Over Waterton River, NW-34-003-10 W4M W5M 

 
78m L steel truss bridge with isolated pile and stringers in fair-poor condition. 
Preliminary engineering required to determine extend of recommend repair work and 
costs.  
 

o MD to reach out to Cardston upon conclusion of preliminary engineering to discuss 
potential for cost sharing. 

 
Bridge File 673 – Skyline Rd. Over Olin Creek, SE-31-009-01 W5M 

 
2m x 2.2m x 54m L culvert (7m cover) with roof/sidewall deflection and cracked 
seems. Preliminary engineering required to determine feasibility of maintenance vs. 
replacement. 

 
o Fish passage anticipated to be a requirement at this site. Current site likely inhibits. 

 
Beaver Creek Rd. over Beaver Creek Trib., LSD NE and SE-33-008-28 W4M 
 

Two separate failing culverts along Beaver Creek Rd. One 0.9m x 28m L (5m cover) 
has failed section in middle with cavity in ditch. One 0.75m x 30m L (9-10m cover) 
silted off/failed at downstream end. Preliminary engineering required to determine 
appropriate replacement/boring feasibility. 

 
o Maintenance not anticipated to be feasible. Assessment of options required. 

 
Studies and Planning Work 
 
Regional Facilities Condition Assessment & Master Plan 
 

o Grant application submitted Nov. 25th for Alberta Community Partnership – 
Intermunicipal Collaboration Grant with Cowley support. 

o Awaiting funding decision. 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 7 of 11 

 
Regional Drought Strategic Implementation Strategy & Raw Water Storage Project 
 

o Grant received (up to 70%) for a Drought Projects Assessment under DFPP. 
o Grant application for 3 month (25-year) forecasted volumes received from AEPA. 

o $3.4M project, up to 75% of costs. 
o ATEC has confirmed stacking of AMMWP Raw Water Storage grant funds 

acceptable for the Drought Projects Assessment (Phase 2). 
o Forecasted demand and water requirement scenarios presented to Council June 10th. 
o Draft water resource assessment received Aug. 8th, comments sent back Aug. 12th. 

o Assessment sent to MD for final review Nov 10th. Review complete Nov. 30th, 
minor comments sent back prior to finalization. 

o Received draft land siting and design criteria to approach stakeholders. Three (3) of 
three (3) initially planned stakeholders approached. Discussions ongoing. Approaching 
additional stakeholders. 

 
Transportation Master Plan 
 

$200,000 grant received from ACP to complete a Transportation Master Plan, consisting 
of a paved, gravel road condition assessment, culvert (non Bridge File) condition 
assessment, gravel pit analysis, airport runway assessment 

 
o Awarded August, 2024 
o Gravel pit report complete 
o Maycroft Road draft prelim. assessment received May 26th 
o Draft TMP report received Jul. 21st, significant amount of comments on new sections of 

report. Internal comments to be sent back to MPE prior to Sep. 9th Council meeting 
o Received comments back and path forward plan Sep. 10th. Discussion held with 

MPE Oct. 10th. Comments incorporated and sent back for MD review Dec. 16th. 
MD review and additional comments sent back Dec. 19th 

o Draft revised road classification sent to MD for review 
o Anticipating final report by February 

 
Cridland Dam 
 

Geotechnical work as recommended in 2021 Dam Safety Review due to observed seepage 
and unknown soil properties 
 

o Site visit complete Apr. 1st, costed plan received Apr. 25th 
o Draft report for spillway discussed Jul. 22nd. Revised draft received Sep 25th, comments 

sent back for review Oct 8th. Final copy received Dec. 11th. Geotechnical report 
discussed Jul. 30th. Final copy received Aug. 27th 
o Initial results indicate spillway requires some (relatively minor) earthworks and 

spillway culverts are undersized 
o Confirmed observed dam face seepage coming from reservoir. Dam face does not 

meet long term Factor of Safety (FoS) requirements 
o At minimum, recommendation is quarterly monitoring of seepage 

o Reports presented to Council for information Jan 27th 
 

 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 8 of 11 

Miscellaneous 
 

o Airport pavement assessment to be kicked off 
o 10 yr. bridge study update kicked off Jan. 27th, 2025 with Roseke. Data entry complete 

o Draft received Dec. 18th, 2025. Reviewed, final copy expected by Council 
 
Operations Updates 
WATER SHORTAGE RESPONSE PLAN 
Implemented Stage: Normal (Restrictions ended Dec. 13th) 

 
o Monitoring risk scoring once/month 
o Access will not be possible to VIS’ this Winter/Spring for pressure testing. Pressure test 

parts have been shipped and received  
o 2025 Implementation Report complete Jan 14th 

 
Beaver Mines Lot Servicing  

• 49/66 developed applications received, 48 approved, 47 connected (71%) 
o Fifteen (15) undeveloped fully serviced locations, One (1) exempt with conditions 

 

General Water Operations Updates Jan. 20th, 2026: 
• Working to calibrate standpipes to new pricing. PC Standpipe experienced a failure event 

resulting in upper fill getting stuck on. Working on more permanent solution 
• Sewer blockage on Wastewater Service line Lundbreck line identified Jan 8th requiring 

emergent excavation/repair. Project complete Jan 15th 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 9 of 11 

 

 



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 10 of 11 

 
• Reviewing expiring water plant approval reapplication 
• Cowley leak re-emerged Jan 18th, Cowley working on repairs 
• Annual crane inspections complete Jan. 20th 
• Reviewing 2026 operation budget plans 
• Working on annual reports 
• Heat trace grounding out on one (1) line at WWTP. Under investigation 
• Contravention submitted to AEPA Oct. 28th for non-compliance due to operating without 

a Level II Water Treatment Operator during vacation/illness. Interim plan approved with 
AEPA, system still considered in non-compliance until a permanent resolution in place 

o Met with Fort Macleod Nov. 24th, potential for agreement. Sent draft 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) Nov. 28th. MoU ready for signature 
pending minor internal review by Fort Macleod 

o Fort Macleod remote monitoring setup, planning orientation day along with 
agreement finalization. 

o Contravention formally ended Jan 19th. Contract operator successfully obtained 
his Level II Water Treatment certification. 

• Letter sent to Cowley Mar 28th detailing various requests and proposed path forward for 
water assets, licenses, and amended operations contract 

o Cowley sent comments back on amended operations contract Nov. 18th. Reviewed 
with CAO. Comments captured and sent back to Cowley for execution Dec. 27th. 
Agreement fully executed Jan. 9th 

o Regarding transfer of water reservoir and treatment building, indicated next step as 
“two councils to determine how the asset valuation will be addressed and make a 
plan for next steps” 

• Beaver Mines Water/Wastewater Projects 
o Awaiting thaw/rain event to assess BM WWTP infiltration 
o Awaiting minor changes to Lift STN Record drawings 

 
 
  



DATE: January 27th, 2026         Page 11 of 11 

General Miscellaneous Operations Update Jan. 20th, 2026: 
• Circular Materials notified regarding EPR reporting non-compliance with Paper. Circular 

Materials has indicated they have been working to resolve via meeting with CNPCL 
o Meeting Jan 22nd to discuss 

• Waste handling contract expiring 
 
 
Recommendation: 
That the Utilities & Infrastructure report for Jan. 8th – Jan. 20th, 2026 is received as information. 
 
 
Prepared by: David Desabrais      Date: Jan. 20th, 2026 
 
Council Meeting        Date: Jan. 27th, 2026 
  



Recommendation to Council

TITLE: Oldman Reservoir Emergency Intake - 2026 Budget Allocation &

Capital Adjustment

PREPARED BY: David Desabrais DATE: Jan. 21st, 2026

DEPARTMENT: Utilities & Infrastructure

David Desabrais

Department

Supervisor

ZC,fQ\f^\

Date

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Potassium Permanganate (KMn04) Cost

Estimate

APPROVALS:

^^
David Desabrais

Department Director

'>(,h\/^-\

Date

Roland Milligan

CAO

y •/-//•

Date

RECOMMENDATION:
That Council approve $182,682 in 2026 funds for the Oldman Reservoir Emergency Intake Capital

Project, and further;

That Council approve the same funding stream breakdown as the 2025 approved funds for $67,682 of

the 2026 funds (75% covered by AMWWP, with 70% of remaining 25% covered by DFPP, and
remaining covered by the Water and Wastewater Reserve), and that the remaining $115,000 be
funded from the Water and Wastewater Reserve.

BACKGROUND:
• As per section 248(1) of the MGA, a council resolution is required for any capital work not

included in the 2026 budget.
• In 2025, the total budget for the Oldman Reservoir Intake project (ORLLI) was $1.8M. $135,000

was funded from the Water and Wastewater Reserve and up to $1,665,000 funded through

AMWWP and DFFP grants.
• To date $1,732,318 has been spent ($67,682 remaining).

2025 Updates
• Final install and commissioning of the permanent electrical drives for the new intakes was

complete throughout 2025.

• Full pump performance could not be achieved with the new drives, despite achieving this

performance with previously installed temporary drives.

• Troubleshooting options "above water line" were exhausted. Further troubleshooting will require

access to the VIS' when water levels are low to pull pumps and (if necessary) pressure test lower

pipeline sections.

• Raw water from the VIS' has continually contained higher Manganese than the current treatment

system is capable of safely handling.

Presented to: Council
Date of Meeting: Jan. 27th, 2026

Page 1 of 2

G1c



Recommendation to Council

2026 Planned Work
• To treat for high Manganese from the new intakes, a Potassium Permanganate dosing setup is

required. The setup needs to be located near the Raw Water Station (RWS) to achieve required

contact time.

• Administration recommends installing a moveable setup in the event that it make senses to locate

the setup at a different location in the future (at Raw Water Storage for example).

• The estimated cost for installation in a dedicated building is $173,000 (Attachment #1).

2026 Budget Request
• Administration is recommending allocating the remaining 2025 budget to 2026 to procure, install,

and commission the dosing setup ($67,682).

o Grant fimding is capped at $ 1.8M total capital cost for this project.

• Administration is requesting allocation of an additional $115,000 from the Water and Wastewater

Reserve to complete this project bringing the MD's total contribution to $250,000.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
Additional $115,000 from Water and Wastewater Reserve for a total maximum contribution of $250,000.

Presented to: Council Page 2 of 2

Date of Meeting: Jan. 27th, 2026



a division of Englobe

Municipal District of Pincher Creek

KMn04 System Building

ORDER OF MAGNITUDE COST ESTIMATE

DESCRIPTION

General Items

1 General Requirements

KMn04 System

2 Process Piping and Installation

3 KMn04 Skid Package incl. Freight and Start Up

4 Electrical Installation

5 Programming and Commissioning

Site Works

6 Site Preparation

7 2.5m x 3.0m Precast Concrete Building c/w R20 Insulation, Panels, Door, etc.

QUANTITY

1

UNIT

L.S.

UNIT PRICE

$ 6,000.00

SUBTOTAL

1
1
1
1

L.S.

L.S.

L.S.

L.S.

$ 10,000.00

$ 44,000.00

$ 25,000.00

$ 7,500.00

SUBTOTAL

1
1

L.S.

_L.S,

$ 5,000.00

$, 46,200,00

SUBTOTAL
GRAND SUBTOTAL

CONTINGENCY (20%'
GRAND TOTAL

COST

$ , 6,000.00

$ 6,000.00

$ 10,000.00

$ 44,000.00

$ 25,000.00

$ 7,500.00

$ 86,500.00

$ 5,000.00

$ 46,200.00

$ 51,200.00

$ 143,700.00

$ 29,000.00

$ 172,700.00

Notes and Assumptions:

General Requirements will be 7.5% of the construction costs.
Land acquisitions to be verified. No allowance for land administration or legal survey services.
No allowance for phasing of work.
No allowance for relocation/modification of shallow and/or overhead utilities.

• The cost estimate is an opinion of probable cost and is a function of many factors that can change with time and hence must not be relied upon as the actual
cost.



Recommendation to Council

TITLE: Cridland Dam - Hydrotechnical and Geotechnical Reports

PREPARED BY: David Desabrais DATE: Jan. 21st, 2026

DEPARTMENT: Utilities & Infrastructure

David Desabrais

Department

Supervisor

^C/Q\/^\

Date

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Dam History
2. Final Geotechnical Report
3. Final Hydrotechnical Report

APPROVALS^

^^
David Desabrais

Department Director

0-^/0't/^\

Date

Roland Milligan

CAO

-r:-

Date

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council receive for information the Cridland Geotechnical and Hydrotechnical Reports.

BACKGROUND:
• The MD completed a Dam Safety Review (DSR) in 2002 for five (5) dams as required by

provincial and federal regulations.

• Forty (40) recommendations were identified, four (4) of which were "high" priority.

• The two (2) high priority recommendations related to the Cridland Dam were to complete a site

specific geotechnical investigation, and to complete a more detailed freeboard and spillway

capacity analysis (based on survey), due to the following findings:
o "The minimum Factor of Safety (FoS) of downstream face of dam may not be adequate"

o "Overtopping of the dam was observed in 2014 ..."

A major events history of the Cridland Dam has been attached (ATTACHMENT #1). The dam was
decommissioned for 5-8 years due to historical seepage/slide concerns prior to stabilization measure
installations in 2003 (no records available).

2025 Studies
• In May 2025, the MD awarded services to MPE Engineering to complete a Geotechnical Analysis

Report and Spillway Capacity Analysis and Report.
• The Geotechnical Report was completed Aug. 27, 2025 (ATTACHMENT #2) and the

Hyrdrotechnical Dec. 5th, 2025 (ATTACHMENT #3)

Presented to: Council
Date of Meeting: Jan 27th, 2026

Page 1 of 2

G1d



Recommendation to Council

Geotechnical report major conclusions:
o Spring observed on downstream abutments of dam are highly likely to be seepage from the

dam as opposed to another stream/aquifer - potential for internal erosion over time.
o The existing embankment does not meet Canadian Dam Association (CDA) long term

steady state Factor of Safety (FoS) requirements

• FoS met for other five (5) design cases including seismic, rapid drawdown, etc.

Geotechnical report recommendations:
o Until stabilization measures can be implemented, increase inspections to quarterly to ensure

no slope stability issues.

o Lowering Full Supply Level (FSL) to 1362.0 m (6m) would be required to satisfy FoS
requirements as designed (effectively eliminating the dam).

Hydrotechnical report major conclusions:
o The Inflow Design Flood (IDF) may be underestimated, as "overtopping" has been

observed six (6) times in last 50 years per previous DSRs.
• Note: Reported "Overtop " events may have actually been spillway/road overtop

events as opposed to dam overtop. Records are unclear.

o Spillway vegetation, sloping, and obstructions are reducing capacity during high flow
events.

o Dam may have experienced more severe events than the IDF in the past.
o Spillway culverts are not sized to pass IDF.

Hydrotechnical report major recommendations:
o Remove hydraulic obstructions (weir on spillway, trash/beaver rack, and routine debris)

which prevent flow blockages and reduce spillway capacity.

o Routinely manage vegetation to reduce flow resistance.
o Additional protection:

• Excavate spillway bed to remove flat section (significant increase in spillway

capacity).
• Upsize (install additional or replace) culvert at upstream end of spillway to reduce

chance of access road overtop during IDF.
• Upsize (install additional or replace) culvert across RR302A (Ken- W)to reduce

chance of road overtop during IDF (Note: this would become a BF sized culvert).

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:
• No major financial implications at this time.

Presented to: Council Page 2 of 2
Date of Meeting: Jan 27th, 2026



Cridland Dam History
By: David Desabrais
Date: January 6th, 2026

• Earthfill dam constructed in 1958 by PFRA for supplementing existing creek water during

low flow for stockwatering/irrigation. Level controlled by earthcut spillway. Transferred

to MD in 1968.

o Raised in 1975 and 1980 (no records found).

• 1975: Overflow spillway damaged due to excessive flow. Repaired in 1997.

• 1975 to 1980: Embankment raised.

• 1989: Inspection noted seepage on downstream face, among other deficiencies.

• 1993: Inspection noted sliding near 1989 seepage point. Monitoring program put in

place

o Remedial actions included decommissioning the dam (among others).

• 1994: Reservoir drained, filled unexpectedly during 1995 flood event (no overtop). Dam

drained again after flood event.

• 1995 to 2003(?): Dam remains drained.

• 2003: Stabilization measures put in place, outlet upgrades complete, Full Supply Level

(FSL) lowered.
• 2008 to 2022: Four (4) "overtop" events reported - likely overtops of the spillway, not

the dam. Multiple spillway culvert replacement/upsize projects complete.



 MPE Engineering Ltd.     300, 714 5 Ave S Lethbridge, AB T1J 0V1  

MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK 
CRIDLAND DAM 

GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT 

Prepared By: 
Chang Liu, P.Eng. 
Geotechnical Engineer 

MPE a division of Englobe 

#320, 6715 - 8 Street NE 
Calgary, AB 
T2E 7H7 
P: (403) 250 1362  
Email: cliu@mpe.ca 

Date: August 27, 2025 
Project #: 1770-037



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam  Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

  i 

CORPORATE AUTHORIZATION 

This report has been prepared by MPE a division of Englobe (MPE), for the sole use of the Municipal 
District of Pincher Creek. Any use that a third party makes of this report, or reliance on or decisions made 
based upon it is the responsibility of the third party. MPE accepts no responsibility for damages, if any, 
suffered by a third party as a result of decisions made or actions taken based upon this report. This report 
represents MPE’s best judgement, based on the information available at the time of report preparation.  
Use of this report is subject to the appended Terms of Reference. 

Respectfully submitted,  

MPE a division of Englobe. 

Prepared by:        Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chang Liu, P.Eng.       Trevor Curtis, P.Eng. 
Geotechnical Engineer       VP, Geotechnical Engineering  
Tel: 403-250-1362       Tel: 403-329-3442 
Email: cliu@mpe.ca       Email: tcurtis@mpe.ca 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam  Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

  iii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1.0 INTRODUCTION ..........................................................................................................................1 

2.0 SCOPE OF WORK .........................................................................................................................1 

3.0 BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................................1 
3.1 DAM SAFETY REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................................................ 1  
3.2 DESIGN STANDARD .......................................................................................................................................... 2 
3.3 HISTORICAL RESERVOIR INFORMATION ................................................................................................................ 2 
3.4 GEOLOGY ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 INVESTIGATION ..........................................................................................................................5 

5.0 SITE CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................................5 
5.1 SITE INSPECTION .............................................................................................................................................. 5 
5.2 SOIL STRATIGRAPHY ......................................................................................................................................... 5 
5.3 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS ............................................................................................................................ 7  

6.0 ANALYSIS....................................................................................................................................8 
6.1 STABILITY ANALYSIS ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

7.0 GEOTECHNICAL REVIEW ............................................................................................................ 11 
7.1 GEOTECHNICAL ASSESSMENT ........................................................................................................................... 11  
7.2 DAM SAFETY REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................................................... 12  

REFERENCES..................................................................................................................................... 12 

 

APPENDIX A: TERMS OF REFERENCE 

APPENDIX B: FIGURES 

APPENDIX C: BOREHOLE LOGS  

APPENDIX D: LAB TESTING 

APPENDIX E: ANALYSIS FIGURES  

APPENDIX F: REFERENCE HISTORICAL DOCUMENTS  

 

LIST OF TABLES 

TABLE 1 – TARGET FACTORS OF SAFETY FOR SLOPE STABILITY ................................................................................................. 2 
TABLE 2 – GROUNDWATER ELEVATION – MEASURED JUNE 17TH, 2025 ................................................................................... 7 
TABLE 3 – MATERIAL STRENGTH AND SEEPAGE PROPERTIES ................................................................................................... 9 
TABLE 4 – STABILITY RESULTS SUMMARY .......................................................................................................................... 10  

 

 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
MPE a division of Englobe (MPE) was retained by the Municipal District of Pincher Creek (MD, Client) to 
investigate the existing Cridland Dam approximately 13 km south of the Town of Pincher Creek. It is 
understood that the MD is looking to address safety concerns and dam safety deficiencies surrounding 
the existing Cridland Dam. Authorization to proceed with the work outlined in the proposal by MPE was 
received by Mr. David Desabrais, Utilities & Infrastructure Manager of the MD on May 16, 2025.  

2.0 SCOPE OF WORK 
Based on requirements from the client and previous discussions, the geotechnical investigation and study 
includes: 

 A geotechnical site characterization to verify and quantify the material properties of the site soils. 
 Stability analysis of the reservoir embankments in various scenarios. 
 Geotechnical reviews and recommendations.  

MPE also conducted a survey of the dam from which the topography of the dam and reservoir are shown 
on Figure 2 in Appendix B. 

The following documents were provided to facilitate the reporting and design of the project, applicable 
data extracted from the reports is included in Appendix F.  

 Dam Safety Review for Cridland (Burmis) Dam, prepared by UMA Engineering Ltd. (UMA 1999). 
 2010 Dam Safety Reviews – Cridland Dam, Foothill Lake Dam, Fish Creek Dam, Sandy Lake Dam; 

prepared by Genivar Inc. (Genivar 2011).  
 2021 Dam Safety Reviews – Cridland Dam, Therriault Community Dam, Sandy Lake Project Dam, 

Fish Lake Project Dam, Foothill Lake Community Dam; prepared by SNC-Lavalin Inc. (SNC 2022). 
 Various memorandums from the Government of Canada’s Prairie Farm Rehabilitation 

Administration (PRFA) between 1993 and 1996 for the recommendations for noted issues and 
recommended rehabilitation of Cridland Dam. 

3.0 BACKGROUND 
The existing Cridland Dam was located within LSD NW-10-005-30-W4M. The topography surrounding the 
site was relatively flat with drainage from west to east towards downstream of the dam.   

3.1 DAM SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 
The Canadian Dam Association (CDA) defines a dam as a barrier used for water retention capable of 
holding at least 30,000 m3 of liquid that is at least 2.5 m high. The embankment height of the existing 
Storage Cell exceeds these limits and must therefore be designed to CDA standards (CDA, 2013). In 
Alberta, dams and canals are defined and regulated by the Water Act (Alberta Environment, 2018a), and 
are subject to the Alberta Dam and Canal Safety Directive (Alberta Environment 2018b). The prevailing 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

2 

Dam Safety Guidelines are those by the CDA (CDA 2007, 2013). This geotechnical design report has been 
prepared with consideration of the applicable regulations, directives, CDA Guidelines (2013) and related 
CDA technical bulletins.  

The dam consequence classification is likely to be “Low” to “Significant”; MPE has assumed a dam 
consequence classification of “Significant” based on the potential damage to the environment, 
surrounding properties and infrastructure.  

3.2 DESIGN STANDARD 
The accepted factors of safety as per the Alberta Dam and Canal Safety Directive (Alberta Environment, 
2018) and CDA (2013) consider the reliability of inputs to the stability analysis, the probability of the 
loading condition, and the consequences of potential failure. These accepted factor of safety (FS) values 
are provided in Table 1.  

Table 1 – Target Factors of Safety for Slope Stability 

Loading Condition Minimum Factor of Safety Slope 

End of construction before reservoir filling 1.3 Upstream and Downstream 

Long term (steady-state seepage, normal 
reservoir level) 

1.5 Downstream 

Full or partial rapid drawdown 1.2 – 1.3 Upstream 

Pseudo-static 1.0 Upstream and Downstream 

Post-earthquake 1.2 – 1.3 Upstream and Downstream 
 

3.3 HISTORICAL RESERVOIR INFORMATION 

Based on the provided information, the Cridland Dam was originally constructed in 1958 by Prairie Farm 
Rehabilitation Administration with the ownership passed to the MD in 1968. The dam was raised by about 
1.7 m sometime between 1975 to 1980, no construction records were available for the original 
construction and the dam raising between 1975 to 1980.  

Between 1993 and 1996, PRFA conducted several inspections of the Cridland Dam and encountered 
seepage along the downstream slope, a shallow slide area with two seepage outlets were noted above 
the outlet conduit, likely due to granular layers in the embankment fill or poor contact between the 
original dam crest and fill used in the raising of the dam crest. The initial recommendation of PRFA was to 
lower the reservoir level and perform ongoing seepage monitoring, but the lowering of the reservoir level 
was rejected by the MD.  



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

3 

A geotechnical investigation was also conducted in 1994 along with the field inspections by PRFA and a 
total of four boreholes were drilled along the top of dam embankments. The geotechnical investigation 
encountered embankment fill with 11% to 30% fines, 32% to 40% sand, and 30% to 53% gravel 30% to 
50%. It was recommended by PFRA to replace the top 7-8 m of the upstream portion of the embankment 
with impervious fill. It was understood that the reservoir was drained following the geotechnical 
investigation, a flood event in 1995 had filled and spilled the reservoir, but the reservoir was again drained 
after the flood and left empty.  

Additional inspections were conducted by PFRA after the reservoir was drained, and a new 
recommendation was made to install a PVC pipe in the existing CSP outlet, install new concrete inlet / 
outlet structures, and construct a granular filter blanket around the seepage areas surrounding the outlet. 
A complete design and tender package was submitted by PRFA in 1996, but no work was completed, and 
the reservoir was left empty. 

In the 1998 Dam Safety Review (DSR) by UMA Engineering Ltd. (UMA 1999) indicated that the 
embankment had failed by piping due to the observed seepages along the downstream slope. The dam 
was concluded to be unsafe, and recommendations were made to leave the reservoir empty, and to either 
reconstruct the dam and outlet or decommission it. The DSR had classified the dam as “High Risk” 
consequence, and indicated a dam height of 11.2 m with a Full Supply Level (FSL) of 1370.1 m.  

The 2010 DSR by Genivar Inc. (Genivar 2011) had indicated that the dam had undergone rehabilitation 
work in 2003. A PVC pipe was inserted into the 600 mm CSP outlet pipe, the spillway was widened from 
5 m to 10 m and the upstream face of the dam and sections of the reservoir were riprapped. The DSR also 
indicated that in comparison with original PFRA design drawings, the existing top of dam is 1.4 m lower 
when surveyed in 2010 with a new dam height of 9.8 m at an elevation of approximately 1370.0 m. The 
FSL of the dam was also lowered 2.1 m to an elevation of 1368.0 m, and it was recommended to reclassify 
the dam as “Low Risk” consequence. The DSR had found the rehabilitated embankment to be structurally 
stable, but indicated that some areas of the reservoir shoreline and spillway channel were eroded and 
needed stabilizing.  

The most recent 2021 DSR for Cridland Dam was conducted by SNC-Lavalin Inc. (SNC 2022). The DSR 
indicated that the reservoir bank stabilization and spillway erosion repairs were still outstanding, and a 
spring and seepage were observed at the toe of the downstream slope. The DSR also indicated that no 
instrumentation were observed on or around the dam, and the existing geotechnical information for the 
dam is considered inadequated. A new geotechnical investigation was recommended to collect 
information on the embankment / foundation soils, and pore water pressures to address the minimum 
FOS being below the CDA requirement of 1.5.   



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

4 

3.4 GEOLOGY 
3.4.1 Surficial Geology 
MPE reviewed mapping published by the Alberta Geological Survey (AGS). According to the surficial 
geology map (Alberta Geological Survey, 2013) the site surficial geology is classified as Stagnant Ice 
Moraine deposits bordered by Moraine deposits. The AGS defines the deposits as follows:  

Stagnant Ice Moraine: Sediments resulting from the collapse and slumping of englacial and supraglacial 
debris due to the melting of buried stagnant ice at the glacier margin; sediment is mainly till but locally 
includes stratified glaciolacustrine or glaciofluvial sediments; characterized by low- to high-relief 
hummocky topography.  

Moraine: Diamicton (till) deposited directly by glacial ice with a mixture of clay, silt, and sand, as well as 
minor pebbles, cobbles, and boulders; characterized by a lack of distinctive topography. Locally, this unit 
may contain blocks of bedrock, stratified sediment, or lenses of glaciolacustrine and/or glaciofluvial 
sediment.  

3.4.2 Bedrock Geology 
MPE reviewed the bedrock geology (Alberta Geological Survey, 2013) and the site bedrock geology is 
indicated as belonging to the Pakowski Formation. The AGS defines the Pakowski Formation as follows:  

Pakowski Formation: Recessive, dark grey to greenish-grey mudstone and shale; minor, silty, thin- to 
medium-bedded sandstone; chert pebble bed at base; typically <25 m thick; marine.   



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

5 

4.0 INVESTIGATION 
The field program was carried out on June 4th, 2025, using a drill rig contracted from Chilako Drilling 
Services Ltd. of Coaldale, AB. The drill rig was equipped with solid stem continuous flight augers. Soil 
samples were retrieved at intervals of approximately 0.6 m. The soil was classified and logged by MPE’s 
field representative, Mr. Curtis Tams. Standard Penetration Testing was generally performed at intervals 
of 1.5 m. Piezometers were installed in all three boreholes drilled. Water levels were measured in the 
boreholes during drilling and on June 17th, 2024, approximately 13 days after completion of drilling.   

The existing dam and the surrounding site are shown on Figure 1, Appendix B and borehole locations are 
labeled on Figure 2. The borehole locations were obtained by site survey and the coordinates are shown 
on the borehole logs. The borehole elevations were obtained from MPE’s survey.  

Laboratory testing was completed on selected soil samples to aid in the determination of engineering 
properties. Testing included natural moisture content, Atterberg limits, and grain size. The test results are 
summarized on the borehole logs included in Appendix C. Individual test reports for laboratory results are 
included in Appendix D. 

The results of the field and laboratory work, and geotechnical recommendations for design and 
construction of the proposed development are included in this report.  

5.0 SITE CONDITIONS 
5.1 SITE INSPECTION 

A site visit was conducted by MPE on April 1st, 2025. Based on the site inspection, the upstream 
embankment of the dam was riprapped to the water level. Minor erosion and scouring was noted along 
the southern shores of the reservoir. The downstream embankment was vegetated with grass, and small 
shrubs and trees were also noted along the embankment. A spring with active seepage was noted along 
the southern abutment of the dam. A shallow slide was noted directly above the spring, with a slide area 
of approximately 10 m3. The downstream embankment was also noted to be relatively moist, and the 
area downstream of the dam embankment was noted to be marshy and heavily treed. The dam 
embankment did appear relatively stable except for the shallow slide along the southern abutment.  

5.2 SOIL STRATIGRAPHY 

The soil conditions encountered on site generally comprised of clay fill overlying clay till and siltstone 
bedrock. Sand seams and sand layers with varying thicknesses were encountered between the clay fill and 
clay layers.  The clay fill is suspected to be comprised of clay or clay till materials due to the similarities 
between the fill layers and the soils below the fill. The main distinction between fill and till layers was the 
difference in soil moisture and gravel content within the fill. 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

6 

A summary of the soil layers encountered is provided below. For a more detailed view of the soil 
conditions, refer to the borehole logs in Appendix C. A description of the terms and symbols used on the 
borehole logs is also included in Appendix C. 

5.2.1 Fill 

Fill was encountered at surface in all boreholes drilled. Clay fill was encountered in 25BH001 and 25BH003, 
extending to a depth of 4.5 m below ground surface (mbgs) and 7.6 mbgs, respectively. Clay and sand fill 
was encountered in 25BH002, extending to a depth of 9.5 mbgs. Based on the site topography and the 
record drawings, the fill was likely sourced from the surrounding in-situ soils. Construction records of the 
dam constructions and rehabilitations were not available for review. The fill was generally described as 
silty, sandy, some gravel and trace cobbles, stiff to very stiff, low plastic, brown and moist. with trace to 
some sand, light brown, and moist. In 25BH002, the fill was described as clay and sand fill. Groundwater 
seepage was encountered in all three boreholes within the clay fill.   

Moisture contents taken from fill samples ranged between 6% and 12%. SPTs within the clay fill resulted 
in N values of 7 to 27 blows, indicating a firm to very stiff consistency. Atterberg Limit tests conducted on 
clay fill samples indicated Liquid Limits between 24% and 29%, and plastic limits between 10% to 15%, 
indicating that the clay fill was low plastic. Grain size analyses conducted on the clay fill samples indicated 
gravel content of 2% to 17%, sand content of 36% to 51%, silt content of 19% to 38%, and clay content of 
13% to 24%.  

5.2.2 Till 

Till was encountered in all boreholes drilled. Clay till was encountered in 25BH002 and 25BH003, 
extending beyond the maximum drilled depths of 18.6 and 15.7 mbgs, respectively. In 25BH001, the clay 
and sand till extended to the underlying siltstone bedrock at 8.0 mbgs. The till was generally described as 
silty, sandy, trace gravel, was moist, stiff to hard, low plastic, dark brown or grey and moist. The local till 
is also known to contain cobbles and coarse-grained deposits, increased gravel and sand content was 
encountered in 25BH002 at 16.8 mbgs.  

Moisture contents taken from till samples ranged between 9% and 24%. SPTs within the till resulted in N 
values of 4 to 54 blows, indicating a soft to hard consistency. Atterberg Limit tests conducted on till 
samples indicated Liquid Limits between 25% and 28%, and plastic limits between 11% to 13%, indicating 
that the till was low plastic. One grain size analysis conducted on the till samples indicated gravel content 
of 1%, sand content of 61%, silt content of 26%, and clay content of 12%. 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

7 

5.2.3 Bedrock 

Siltstone bedrock was encountered in 25BH001 below the clay and sand till from 8.0 mbgs to 10.9 mbgs. 
The siltstone was described as containing some silt, trace clay, was slightly weathered, medium plastic, 
extremely weak, light grey and damp.  

Moisture contents taken from the siltstone samples ranged between 14% and 15%. SPTs within the 
siltstone resulted in N values of 72 blows for 300 mm of penetration to 50 blows for 75 mm of penetration.  

5.3 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS 

At the time of drilling, groundwater seepage was encountered in all boreholes within the fill. Sloughing 
was also encountered in 25BH001 and minor sloughing was encountered in 25BH002 and 25BH003. 
Piezometers were installed in all boreholes upon completion.  Groundwater readings were taken on June 
17th, 2025, 13 days after completion of drilling. The groundwater readings are summarized in Table 2.  

Table 2 – Groundwater Elevation – Measured June 17th, 2025 

Borehole No. 
Depth of Standpipe 

(m) 

Depth of 
Groundwater 

(m) 

Elevation of 
Borehole 

(m) 

Elevation of 
Groundwater 

(m) 

25BH001 7.0 4.0 1369.9 1365.8 

25BH002 9.1 3.2 1369.8 1366.6 

25BH003 14.9 7.2 1369.9 1362.8 

Groundwater levels are expected to fluctuate seasonally and in response to climatic conditions. If 
groundwater conditions encountered during construction are observed to be drastically different from 
this report, MPE should be notified so that the implications of the changes can be reviewed.  

  



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

8 

6.0 ANALYSIS 
6.1 STABILITY ANALYSIS 
The intended goal of the stability analysis for this project is to confirm that the existing reservoir 
embankments meet the minimum factors of safety (FS) described previously in Section 3.2 or what 
option(s) are available to satisfy this requirement. The FS is the ratio of soil shear strength to shear stress 
along a failure plane within the slope, perpendicular to the axis of the dam. A FS of 1.0 is defined as 
reaching limit equilibrium and therefore the slope being analyzed is in a state of failure or deformation. A 
FS larger than 1.0 is theoretically indicative of a stable slope. A FS between 1.0 and 1.5 in the long term is 
typically not considered safe due to the possible variability in conditions present across the site. 

The cross sections used in the stability and seepage analyses was developed from the survey data 
combined with the record drawings. The dam section with the greatest embankment height was chosen 
in order to assess the stability of the existing dam.  

Soil profiles were created from the borehole information across the site, and with comparison to the 
geotechnical investigation in 1994 and historical records. The material properties for the stability models 
were based on information discussed in the previous sections and the stability models are shown in in 
Appendix E. 

6.1.1 Critical Sections  

A topographic site plan of the project area associated with the existing dam was surveyed by MPE in June 

2025. The survey combined with LiDAR information of the surrounding areas were used to create the 

critical cross-sections used in the stability and seepage analyses. Three cross sections were constructed 

using the survey and LiDAR data, as shown on Figures 2 and 3 in Appendix B. The cross section at 0+044.14 

were chosen as Section B for slope modeling as the critical cross section due to the thickest fill depth 

observed in 25BH002. The cross section at 0+019.70 were also chosen as Section A due to the changed 

soil stratigraphy observed in 25BH001.  

The embankment heights for these cross sections were relatively similar, with top of dam at 1369.9m 

based on the MPE survey. The upstream slope was at 4.0H:1V to an inlet invert of 1359.99 m according 

to the Dam Section in Drawing No. 004 in UMA 1999. The downstream slope was surveyed by MPE and 

was at inclinations of approximately 3.0H:1V to varied elevations of 1358 to 1360 m. The sections are also 

shown in Figures E 1.1 to E 2.6 in Appendix E with the slope modeling results. 

 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

9 

6.1.2 Soil Strength and Seepage Parameters 

Soil strength parameters were based on field and laboratory index testing conducted on samples collected 
from the site. The effective friction angles of the fine-grained materials were estimated using various data 
including Atterberg limit tests, hydrometer tests, in-situ testing, and experience with similar materials. 
Soil strength parameters selected for the analyses contained within this report are shown in Table 3 
below.  

Table 3 – Material Strength and Seepage Properties 

Soil Unit 
Bulk Unit 
Weight 
(kN/m3) 

Effective 
Cohesion 

(kPa) 

Effective Angle 
of Friction  

(°) 

Hydraulic 
Conductivity 

(m/s) 
Strength Type 

Clay Fill 19 0 28 5.5e-05 Mohr-Coulomb 

Clay and Sand Fill 19 0 28 5.5e-05 Mohr-Coulomb 

Clay and Sand Till 20 3 28 1.0e-06 Mohr-Coulomb 

Clay Till 20 3 28 1.0e-07 Mohr-Coulomb 

Siltstone 21 100 0 1.0e-10 Undrained 

Values selected were intended to be representative of site conditions and reasonably conservative. The 
cohesion used in the model is interpreted from site soil conditions and considered conservative; this is 
typical in slopes where cohesion may degrade due to environmental effects over time. For the effective 
internal friction angle, representative values for each material were selected deemed reasonable for the 
soil description and available test results carried out on the respective soils.  

The provided design geometry satisfies current guidelines (CDA, 2013). The stability model is sensitive to 
soil strength parameters, so the design strength parameters represent conservative values which are 
considered suitable based on laboratory testing and experience with similar soils.  

6.1.3 Seepage Model 

The geotechnical modelling computer program SLIDE, by RocScience, version 9.037, was utilized to 
complete the steady state and transient seepage analyses for this project to determine the phreatic 
surface in the embankment for stability modelling.  

The Cridland Dam has a FSL of 1368.0 m. Steady-state seepage was conducted using the FSL to assess the 
long-term stability upstream and downstream, and a transient seepage analysis was conducted to assess 
the upstream stability during rapid drawdown. Based on the historical records and drawings, the dam 
does contain an outlet pipe at the toe of the upstream embankment. It is understood that the dam is 
usually left at FSL and not emptied. Rapid drawdown was assessed using an assumed draw down of 200 
days due to the outlet pipe size, for a reservoir water surface elevation drop from 1368.0 m to a 
completely empty reservoir elevation of 1360.0 m. The material properties for the seepage model were 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

10 

based on information discussed in the previous sections, and compared with groundwater conditions 
observed in Section 5.4.  

6.1.4 Seismic Loading Condition 

Seismic stability was modelled by performing a pseudo-static analysis for the design earthquake, as 
recommended by the CDA. The analysis for pseudo-static seismic conditions applies a horizontal force 
(seismic coefficient, KH) to the stability model to simulate earthquake loading. The seismic coefficient is 
taken as a fraction of the Peak Ground Acceleration (PGA) for the site, for a given design earthquake. The 
design earthquake for Low Consequence dams has an Annual Exceedance Probability of 1:100. The 
National Building Code of Canada Seismic Hazard Calculator was used to obtain a site-specific PGA value 
of 0.019g for the 1:100-year event. The site PGA is for a “Stiff Soil” condition (National Building Code of 
Canada 2020 Site Classification D). 

For the determination of the horizontal seismic coefficient, PGA was reduced by half. A lateral seismic 
coefficient of 0.0095g was therefore used to complete the pseudo-static limit equilibrium analysis. It 
should be noted that this reduced seismic demand allows for up to 1 m of movement during the design 
seismic event. 

6.1.5 Stability Models and Results 

The GLE/Morgenstern-Price method was used to complete the analysis due to its ability to accommodate 
differing slip surface shapes, varied side force orientations, and because it satisfies force and moment 
equilibrium. Slip surfaces shallower than 2.0 m have been filtered out from the results. 

The results of the loading conditions are summarized in Table 4 and are included in Appendix E.  

Table 4 – Stability Results Summary 

Loading Condition Minimum FS 
Required by CDA Section A, FS Section B, FS 

Long-Term (Steady State) Downstream 1.5 1.20 1.19 

End of Construction Upstream 1.3 2.46 2.20 

End of Construction Downstream 1.3 1.89 1.61 

Rapid Drawdown Upstream 1.2 1.84 2.03 

Pseudo-Static Seismic Downstream 1.0 1.16 1.16 

Pseudo-Static Seismic Upstream 1.0 2.05 2.34 

 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

11 

7.0 GEOTECHNICAL REVIEW 
7.1 GEOTECHNICAL ASSESSMENT 

As stated in Section 6.1.1, the upstream slope consists of a 4.0H:1V or flatter slope up to the crest 
elevation of 1369.9 m. The downstream slope was surveyed at 3H:1V at the sections analyzed. It is 
understood that the dam consists of fill with varied clay and sand content. No construction records were 
available for review, but the fill is likely excavated from the reservoir footprint.  

Based on the field investigation and laboratory soil testing, the results showed that the embankment 
consisted of stiff to very stiff, low plastic fill similar to the on-site till with SPTs N-values ranging from 7-27 
blows. Grain size analyses conducted on the clay fill samples indicated gravel content of 2% to 17%, sand 
content of 36% to 51%, silt content of 19% to 38%, and clay content of 13% to 24%. Based on the higher 
gravel and sand content, and the relatively low clay content, the fill is considered marginally suitable for 
embankment construction.  

During the site inspection on April 1, 2025, a spring was observed along the southern downstream 
abutment of the dam. Based on the higher coarse-grained content from the laboratory soil testing, it is 
likely that preferential flow paths were created within the dam, which could in time lead to loss of material 
and embankment instability. In addition, historical records have also shown that the PRFA had concerns 
regarding the high coarse-grained content of the embankment fill, and requested the MD to replace the 
top 7-8 m of the upstream portion of the embankment with impervious fill. Groundwater seepage was 
also encountered in all three boreholes within the fill.   

Based on the stability analysis, the existing embankment do not meet CDA (CDA, 2013) factors of safety 
under long term steady state condition for the downstream slope. Until stabilization measures can be 
implemented, the following recommendations can be followed: 

 Quarterly inspections of the dam to ensure there are no slope stability issues for the dam 
embankments.  

 Advanced laboratory testing was not included in this investigation, advanced laboratory testing 
can provide in-situ soil strength and seepage parameters for a more accurate stability analysis.  

 Lowering the FSL to 1362.0 m, preliminary analysis indicates lowering the FSL to 1362.0 m would 
satisfy the CDA requirement of Long-Term (Steady State) Downstream FS of 1.5.  



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

12 

7.2 DAM SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 

Based on MPE’s visual assessment and engineering judgement, a dam Consequence Classification of 
“Low” is considered appropriate for the dam, in agreeance with Genivar 2011 and SNC 2022.  This should 
be verified through inundation analysis and qualitative review. As per the 2018 Alberta Dam & Canal 
Safety Directive (the Directive), a number of requirements will need to be met for the operational life of 
the structure.  For a comprehensive list of requirements, refer to the Directive.   

At a minimum, the MD should prepare the following documents: 

1. Emergency Preparedness Plan (EPP) and Emergency Response Plan (ERP) 
2. Operations, Maintenance, and Surveillance (OMS) Manual. 
3. Quarterly Inspection Reports. 

 

 



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 

 

 

13 

REFERENCES 
Alberta Environment. (2018a). Alberta Regulation 205/98 Water Act Water (Ministerial) Regulation. 

Edmonton: Queen's Printer. 

Alberta Geological Survey. (2003). Surficial Geology of Alberta Map 601. Edmonton: Alberta Energy 
Regulator. 

Alberta Geological Survey. (2013). Bedrock geology of Alberta Map 600. Edmonton: Alberta Energy 
Regulator. 

Associated Engineering. (2022). Big Valley Lagoon Wastewater Treatment System Study. Associatd 
Engineering. 

Carter, D. W. (2003). Goodbye, Hazen; Hello Kozeny-Carman. Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental 
Engineering, Vol. 129, Issue 11. 

CDA. (2013). Dam Safety Guidelines. Toronto: Canadian Dam Association. 

Government of Alberta. (2018). Alberta Dam and Canal Safety Directive.  

Hanes-Griffen, M. E., & Franklin, A. G. (1984). Rationalizing the Seismic Coefficient Method. US Army Corps 
of Engineers Geotechnical Laboratory, GL-84-13. 

Stark, T. D., & Hussain, M. (2003). Empirical Correlations: Drained Shear Strength for Slope Stability 
Analyses. Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, Vol. 139, Issue 6. 

UMA Engineering Ltd. (May 1999). Dam Safety Review for Cridland (Burmis) Dam, File No. 0678-045-00-
02. 

Genivar Inc. (May 2011). 2010 Dam Safety Reviews – Cridland Dam, Foothill Lake Dam, Fish Creek Dam, 
Sandy Lake Dam, File No. 101-13304-00.  

SNC-Lavalin Inc. (March 14, 2022). 2021 Dam Safety Reviews – Cridland Dam, Therriault Community Dam, 
Sandy Lake Project Dam, Fish Lake Project Dam, Foothill Lake Community Dam, Internal Ref. 
683055. 

Government of Canada, Geotechncial Div., Saskatoon (November 9, 1993). Cridland Dam - Visual 
Inspection, Nov. 5, 1993. 

Government of Canada, Geotechncial Div., Saskatoon (December 14, 1993). Cridland Dam - Slide Area 
Concentrated Seepage. 

Government of Canada, PFRA Engineering and Sustainability Service (September 8, 1994). Cridland Dam - 
Recommendations for Rehabilitation.  

Government of Canada, Geotechncial Div., Saskatoon (January 11, 1995). Cridland Dam - Geotechnical 
Investigation.  

Government of Canada, PFRA Engineering and Sustainability Service (June 22, 1995). Cridland Dam 
Rehabilitation.   



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A:  
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

  







Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B:  
 

FIGURES 
 

  



CR
ID

LA
N

D 
RE

SE
RV

O
IR

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

5-
30

 W
4M

N
E 

1/
4 

10
-5

-3
0 

W
4M

SE
 1

/4
 1

0-
5-

30
 W

4M

SW
 1

/4
 1

0-
5-

30
 W

4M

RGE RD 302A

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M

SP
IL

LW
AY

1

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

SI
TE

 P
LA

N



25
BH

00
2

25
BH

00
1

25
BH

00
3

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

05
-3

0 
W

4M

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

05
-3

0 
W

4M

C 8

B 8

A 8

0+
00

0

0+
09

9

BO
RE

HO
LE

 LO
CA

TI
O

N
(N

AD
83

 U
TM

12
 C

O
O

RD
IN

AT
ES

)

BH
 ID

25
BH

00
1

25
BH

00
2

25
BH

00
3

N
O

RT
HI

N
G

54
73

05
7.

1

54
73

08
0.

6

54
73

10
3.

6

EA
ST

IN
G

28
50

40
.5

28
50

20
.4

28
50

02
.1

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

13
69

.9

13
69

.8

13
69

.9

2

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
NC

HE
R 

CR
EE

K

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
50

0

CR
ID

LA
ND

 D
AM

 P
LA

N



13
57

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
57

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

13
69

.9
0

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
68

.3
3

ID
F

13
68

.8
2

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

A 7

ST
A 

0+
02

0 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
01

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

13
69

.8
7

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
68

.3
3

ID
F

13
68

.8
2

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

B 7

ST
A 

0+
04

4 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
02

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

13
69

.8
9

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
68

.3
3

ID
F

13
68

.8
2

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

C 7

ST
A 

0+
07

4 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
03

3

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
NC

HE
R 

CR
EE

K

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

DA
M

 S
EC

TI
O

NS



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C:  
 

BOREHOLE LOGS 

  















Proud of Our Past.... Building the Future www.mpe.ca

TEST HOLE LOGS
EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS AND TERMS

J J j



Proud of Our Past.... Building the Future www.mpe.ca

TEST HOLE LOGS
EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS AND TERMS



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D:  
 

LAB TESTING 

  



MPE a division of Englobe
1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess Sample #: 1SPT1
Project No.: 1770-037-00 Source: 25BH001
Owner: MD of Pincher Creek Sample Depth: 1.5 m
File No.: AL - 01 Test Date:

Tested in accordance with ASTM D4318 (Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity of Soils).  Additional test information available upon request.

Sample Description: Inorganic clays of low plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays

Liquid Limit (LL) Soil Plasticity
Plastic Limit (PL) Soil Classification

Plasticity Index (PI)

Comments:

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

ATTERBERG LIMITS

28.4
11.4
17.0

Low
CL

12-Jun-25

MH & OH

CH

CL - ML

CL

ML & OL

CI

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x (
%

)

Liquid Limit (%)



MPE a division of Englobe
1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess Sample #: 2SPT4
Project No.: 1770-037-00 Source: 25BH002
Owner: MD of Pincher Creek Sample Depth: 6.1 m
File No.: AL - 02 Test Date:

Tested in accordance with ASTM D4318 (Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity of Soils).  Additional test information available upon request.

Sample Description: Inorganic clays of low plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays

Liquid Limit (LL) Soil Plasticity
Plastic Limit (PL) Soil Classification

Plasticity Index (PI)

Comments:

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

ATTERBERG LIMITS

29.2
14.9
14.3

Low
CL

12-Jun-25

MH & OH

CH

CL - ML

CL

ML & OL

CI

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x (
%

)

Liquid Limit (%)



MPE a division of Englobe
1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess Sample #: 2SPT9
Project No.: 1770-037-00 Source: 25BH002
Owner: MD of Pincher Creek Sample Depth: 14.2 m
File No.: AL - 03 Test Date:

Tested in accordance with ASTM D4318 (Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity of Soils).  Additional test information available upon request.

Sample Description: Inorganic clays of low plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays

Liquid Limit (LL) Soil Plasticity
Plastic Limit (PL) Soil Classification

Plasticity Index (PI)

Comments:

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

ATTERBERG LIMITS

25.2
10.6
14.6

Low
CL

12-Jun-25

MH & OH

CH

CL - ML

CL

ML & OL

CI

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x (
%

)

Liquid Limit (%)



MPE a division of Englobe
1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess Sample #: 3SPT1
Project No.: 1770-037-00 Source: 25BH001
Owner: MD of Pincher Creek Sample Depth: 1.5 m
File No.: AL - 04 Test Date:

Tested in accordance with ASTM D4318 (Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity of Soils).  Additional test information available upon request.

Sample Description: Inorganic clays of low plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays

Liquid Limit (LL) Soil Plasticity
Plastic Limit (PL) Soil Classification

Plasticity Index (PI)

Comments:

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

ATTERBERG LIMITS

24.4
10.3
14.1

Low
CL

12-Jun-25

MH & OH

CH

CL - ML

CL

ML & OL

CI

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x (
%

)

Liquid Limit (%)



MPE a division of Englobe
1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess Sample #: 3SPT5
Project No.: 1770-037-00 Source: 25BH003
Owner: MD of Pincher Creek Sample Depth: 8.1 m
File No.: AL - 05 Test Date:

Tested in accordance with ASTM D4318 (Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity of Soils).  Additional test information available upon request.

Sample Description: Inorganic clays of low plasticity, gravelly clays, sandy clays, silty clays, lean clays

Liquid Limit (LL) Soil Plasticity
Plastic Limit (PL) Soil Classification

Plasticity Index (PI)

Comments:

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

ATTERBERG LIMITS

28.1
13.4
14.7

Low
CL

12-Jun-25

MH & OH

CH

CL - ML

CL

ML & OL

CI

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Pl
as

tic
ity

 In
de

x (
%

)

Liquid Limit (%)



MPE a division of Englobe
  1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Sample No.:
Project No.: Source:
Owner: Sample Depth:
File No.: Date:

Tested in accordance with AASHTO T 88 (Particle Size Analysis of Soils)

0.600 84.7 %
80.0 100.0 0.300 80.1 0.0
50.0 100.0 0.150 72.1 0.0
37.5 100.0 0.075 61.9 0.0
25.0 100.0 0.0289 50.1 2.1
19.0 100.0 0.0191 43.2 6.1
12.5 99.4 0.0113 39.1 9.4
9.5 99.1 0.0081 35.0 20.5
4.75 97.9 0.0058 32.2 38.3
2.00 91.8 0.0029 26.7 23.6
1.180 88.5 0.0013 19.8

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

80 mm to 19 mm

2.00 mm to 425 μm
425 μm to 75 μm

<2 μm

>300 mm

19 mm to 4.75 mm
4.75 mm to 2.00 mm

75 μm to 2 μm

Coarse Gravel
Fine Gravel

Percent Finer Grain Size 
(mm) Percent Finer

Clay

Coarse Sand
Medium Sand

Fine Sand
Silt

GRAIN SIZE ANALYSIS REPORT

Boulders
Cobbles

Type

Material Description Proportion

23-Jun-25

Grain Size 
(mm)

Particle Size Range

300 mm to 80 mm

Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess
1770-037-00
MD of Pincher Creek
GSA - 1SPT1

25BH001
1.5 m

1SPT1

2.0

2.0

0.600

0.600

0.002

0.002

4.75

4.75

50

50

25

25

10

10

0.075

0.075

80

80

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Pe
rc

en
t P

as
si

ng

Grain Size (mm)



MPE a division of Englobe
  1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Sample No.:
Project No.: Source:
Owner: Sample Depth:
File No.: Date:

Tested in accordance with AASHTO T 88 (Particle Size Analysis of Soils)

0.600 59.4 %
80.0 100.0 0.300 53.0 0.0
50.0 100.0 0.150 45.6 0.0
37.5 100.0 0.075 37.9 0.0
25.0 100.0 0.0309 27.9 0.7
19.0 100.0 0.0198 25.9 27.2
12.5 100.0 0.0118 21.0 15.9
9.5 100.0 0.0085 19.1 18.3
4.75 99.3 0.0061 17.1 25.7
2.00 72.1 0.0030 14.2 12.2
1.180 66.7 0.0013 10.2

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

80 mm to 19 mm

2.00 mm to 425 μm
425 μm to 75 μm

<2 μm

>300 mm

19 mm to 4.75 mm
4.75 mm to 2.00 mm

75 μm to 2 μm

Coarse Gravel
Fine Gravel

Percent Finer Grain Size 
(mm) Percent Finer

Clay

Coarse Sand
Medium Sand

Fine Sand
Silt

GRAIN SIZE ANALYSIS REPORT

Boulders
Cobbles

Type

Material Description Proportion

23-Jun-25

Grain Size 
(mm)

Particle Size Range

300 mm to 80 mm

Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess
1770-037-00
MD of Pincher Creek
GSA - 1SPT4

25BH001
3.0 m

1SPT4

2.0

2.0

0.600

0.600

0.002

0.002

4.75

4.75

50

50

25

25

10

10

0.075

0.075

80

80

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Pe
rc

en
t P

as
si

ng

Grain Size (mm)



MPE a division of Englobe
  1, 3320 18 Avenue North

Lethbridge, Alberta T1H 5J3
Tel: (403)892-6036

Project: Sample No.:
Project No.: Source:
Owner: Sample Depth:
File No.: Date:

Tested in accordance with AASHTO T 88 (Particle Size Analysis of Soils)

0.600 52.0 %
80.0 100.0 0.300 45.9 0.0
50.0 100.0 0.150 39.0 0.0
37.5 100.0 0.075 32.2 0.0
25.0 100.0 0.0310 27.1 17.1
19.0 100.0 0.0202 23.1 17.7
12.5 93.7 0.0119 20.2 16.2
9.5 87.4 0.0085 19.2 16.8
4.75 82.9 0.0061 17.2 19.4
2.00 65.2 0.0030 14.2 12.8
1.180 59.1 0.0013 11.3

Reviewed By:
Kasz Leavitt, P.Tech. (Eng.)

Reporting of these results constitutes a testing service only.  Engineering interpretation or evaluation of the results is provided only on written request.

80 mm to 19 mm

2.00 mm to 425 μm
425 μm to 75 μm

<2 μm

>300 mm

19 mm to 4.75 mm
4.75 mm to 2.00 mm

75 μm to 2 μm

Coarse Gravel
Fine Gravel

Percent Finer Grain Size 
(mm) Percent Finer

Clay

Coarse Sand
Medium Sand

Fine Sand
Silt

GRAIN SIZE ANALYSIS REPORT

Boulders
Cobbles

Type

Material Description Proportion

23-Jun-25

Grain Size 
(mm)

Particle Size Range

300 mm to 80 mm

Cridland Dam Geo & Hydro Assess
1770-037-00
MD of Pincher Creek
GSA - 2SPT2

25BH002
6.1 m

2SPT2

2.0

2.0

0.600

0.600

0.002

0.002

4.75

4.75

50

50

25

25

10

10

0.075

0.075

80

80

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Pe
rc

en
t P

as
si

ng

Grain Size (mm)



Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX E:  
 

ANALYSIS FIGURES 

  



























Municipal District of Pincher Creek - Cridland Dam Geotechnical Investigation Report 
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX F:  
 

REFERENCE HISTORICAL DOCUMENTS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



















1

Suite 300, 714 – 5 Avenue South
Lethbridge, AB  T1J 0V1
Phone: 403-329-3442
1-866-329-3442

MEMORANDUM

To:  David Desabrais From: Dylan Postman

cc: Jeff Hust

Re: Cridland Dam Hydrotechnical Assessment Date:  December 5, 2025

File: N/17/70/037.doc Pages: 9

BACKGROUND

The Municipal District of Pincher Creek (MDPC) has retained MPE a division of Englobe (MPE), to carry out

geotechnical and hydrotechnical investigations of Cridland Dam and Spillway. As part of this work, MPE

reviewed the Dam Safety Review (DSR) prepared by SNC-Lavalin in March 2022. The DSR concluded that

the emergency spillway capacity and available freeboard at Cridland Dam were sufficient to safely convey

the Inflow Design Flood (IDF). However, the DSR also noted that the dam has experienced overtopping in

the past and recommended that a detailed freeboard and spillway capacity analysis, informed by updated

survey data, be undertaken to confirm whether the spillway and freeboard meet current design

requirements for passing the IDF.

SURVEY

On June 4, 2025, MPE completed a GPS survey of Cridland Dam and Spillway. Based on the collected data,

three dam cross sections and eighteen spillway cross sections were developed. Elevations and dimensions

of the two spillway culvert crossings were also recorded. The cross sections are provided in the appendices

of this memorandum.

SPILLWAY CAPACITY

The spillway's flow capacity was initially assessed using Manning’s equation. However, the first 90 m of

the spillway could not be reliably analyzed with this method due to the flat slope and the presence of a

weir at station 0+050 (see Figure 1).



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

2

.
Figure 1: Grassed Weir at Sta. 0+050 Backing Up Water

To address this, a HEC-RAS model was developed for the upstream portion of the spillway using the

surveyed cross sections. Manning’s n values of 0.027 for the spillway bed and 0.05 for the banks were

used, consistent with those applied in the 2022 DSR.

The analysis determined that a reservoir level of 1,368.79 m is required to safely pass the peak IDF flow

of 4.53 m³/s. The minimum freeboard during the IDF is 490 mm, occurring on the right spillway bank at

station 0+057. At this location, the maximum flow rate that can be conveyed without overtopping the

spillway bank is 21 m³/s, approximately 4.6 times the IDF. With 400 mm of freeboard on the spillway

banks, the maximum allowable flow rate is 7.3 m³/s.

To assess the influence of surface roughness, an additional model was completed using a Manning’s n

value of 0.045 for the spillway bed to reflect the effect of longer grass cover (approximately 100 mm). This

scenario reduced the spillway capacity to 5.5 m³/s while maintaining 400 mm of freeboard. Grass height,

therefore, has a measurable effect on spillway hydraulics, with taller, ungrazed vegetation and brush

producing higher resistance and reducing conveyance. Upstream of the barbed wire fence, where cattle

do not graze, shrubbery was noted and grass was observed to be longer than within the active spillway

channel (see Figure 2), which could locally reduce hydraulic capacity.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

3

Figure 2: Vegetation Grown in Spillway Flat Section

The results indicate that the spillway appears to have sufficient hydraulic capacity to pass the current IDF

under typical conditions. However, vegetation growth, uneven channel bed and surface roughness can

reduce the spillway's effective capacity. Vegetation should be managed as part of ongoing maintenance

to retain the spillway's capacity.

SPILLWAY CAPACITY

Despite the model indicating adequate capacity, site observations identified potential flow-limiting

obstructions at the spillway inlet. Figure 3 shows a barbed-wire fence to contain cattle and metal blades

(likely a make-shift trash rack) installed across the mouth of the spillway. These features could trap

floating debris and significantly reduce the spillway's discharge capacity. Additionally, shrubbery and long

grass observed in the flat upstream section of the spillway further reduce its capacity.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

4

Figure 3: Flow Obstructions at Spillway Inlet

Such obstructions could explain past overtopping events despite the modelled capacity being adequate

to handle the IDF. Hydraulic performance may be improved by:

Removing fences and obstructions at the spillway entrance to prevent debris accumulation,

Clearing vegetation and regrading portions of the spillway bed to improve flow conveyance, and

Maintaining a clear channel to reduce flow restrictions during high inflows.

CAPACITY OF CULVERT CROSSINGS

Two culvert crossings exist along the spillway and were analyzed in Culvert Master:

At station 0+234, a 1,200 mm culvert beneath the dam access road, and

At the downstream end across Range Road 302A, one 900 mm and one 750 mm culvert.

Figure 4: Upstream Dam Access Road Culvert Crossing (Sta. 0+234)



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

5

The upstream culvert crossing shown in Figure 2 is likely to overtop during an IDF event as the maximum

flow rate with no freeboard is approximately 4.0 m³/s.  However, overtopping of this crossing will not

affect the spill capacity of the reservoir due to its lower elevation.

Figure 5: Downstream Range Road 302A Culvert Crossing

The downstream Range Road 302A crossing has a maximum capacity of 1.96 m³/s with 400 mm freeboard

and 2.65 m³/s at the top of the road. As this is only 58% of the peak IDF, this crossing will likely overtop

during the design event. Rating curves for both culverts are included in the appendices.

DAM FREEBOARD

Freeboard requirements were calculated using the wind speed return events from Alberta Transportation

(AT, 2007) for station 3035206 (Pincher Creek), which has the largest calculated wind events of the nearby

wind stations. No wind reduction factor was applied for design wind direction, resulting in conservative

wave heights. Reservoir depth was estimated by dividing the reservoir’s storage at FSL by the surface area

at FSL; values for the storage volume and surface area were taken from the 2022 DSR. The top of dam

elevation used was the lowest crest elevation of the three dam cross sections surveyed by MPE.

For a ‘Low’ consequence dam such as Cridland Dam, the freeboard must be high enough to protect against

the 1:1,000 year 1-hr wind event at FSL and the 1:100 year 1-hr wind event during the IDF. The calculated

freeboard requirements for Cridland Dam are summarised in Table 1 below. Sample freeboard

calculations can be found at the end of this memorandum.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

6

Table 1: Required Freeboard for Cridland Dam

Scenario
Reservoir
Elevation

Wave Run-
up + Set-up

Total
 Elevation Top of Dam Remaining

Freeboard
m m m m m

FSL w/

1:1000 wind
1368.00 0.56 1368.56 1369.87 1.31

IDF w/

1:100 wind
1368.79 0.51 1369.30 1369.87 0.57

Based on these calculations, Cridland Dam has sufficient freeboard to protect against wave action during

normal operations and during passage of the IDF.

HYDROTECHNICAL CONCLUSION

According to the 2022 DSR, Cridland Dam has overtopped six times in the past 50 years – in 1975, 1995,

2008, 2009, 2010, and 2014. However, in the 1999 Cridland Dam DSR, it indicated the reservoir filled and

spilled but did not overtop in 1995. Therefore, there could be some confusion on whether the dam over

topped or it was primarily spillway discharge.

All events but the 1975 flood occurred after the dam was raised to its current elevation in 1980 according

to the 1999 DSR. In 1977 repairs to the spillway channel were completed repairing damage from the 1975

flood. Based on the findings of this memorandum, the dam currently has 0.58 m of excess freeboard

beyond what is required to protect against wave action during the IDF spill event. This presents a

contradiction, as overtopping should not have occurred under these conditions.

There are several possible explanations for this discrepancy:

IDF Underestimation: The 2022 DSR estimated that the 2014 flood event, which overtopped the

dam, had a return period between 5 and 50 years, lower than the 1:100-year IDF. Since

overtopping has occurred six times in the past 50 years, it is unlikely that every event exceeded

the IDF, indicating that the design flood is possibly underestimated. An underestimated IDF could

result from underestimating one or more variables used in the calculations, such as the design

rainfall volume, the catchment area of the reservoir, and the percentage of rainfall that flows into

the reservoir.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

7

Spillway Obstructions: Metal blades observed at the spillway entrance during inspection were

assumed to be a trash rack.  It is unclear when these were installed, however it would reduce the

spillway’s hydraulic capacity and raise reservoir levels during high flows by trapping debris.

Additionally, long grass and brush growth in the 90 m flat upper section of the spillway further

increases roughness and resistance, lowering the spillway’s discharge capacity.

The 1999 DSR noted, that in 1989 there was timber debris accumulated at the spillway inlet with

heavy vegetation in the channel.  This may have reduced the capacity of the spillway during the

1995 event where the spillway experienced erosion damage. According to the 2010 DSR, the

spillway was then widened from 5m to 10m in 2003 to reduce flow velocity and increase spill

capacity.  As-built record drawings of the 2003 spillway upgrades were not located in the files.

While these factors alone may not fully explain the repeated overtopping events, the overgrown

vegetation, trash rack and build up of debris probably contributed to decreased spill capacity

during flood conditions.

Larger-than-estimated flood events: It is also possible that one or more overtopping events were

caused by floods exceeding the current IDF estimate.

Hydraulic modeling conducted for this memorandum shows that the current spillway capacity at a

reservoir elevation of 1369.36 m (the maximum level that maintains freeboard) is approximately 20 m³/s.

To cause the dam to overtop, reservoir inflows would need to exceed this rate.

The spillway capacity can be enhanced by modifying the existing spillway structure. Removing the weir at

station 0+050 would reduce the reservoir elevation needed to pass the IDF by approximately 250 mm and

increase the maximum spillway capacity to 30.5 m³/s.

A larger increase in capacity could be achieved by excavating the flat 90 m section at the start of the

spillway and increasing the bed slope to 1.24% as shown in the attached conceptual drawings. This work,

along with clearing brush along the spillway and removing the fence and trash rack, would reduce flow

restrictions and enhance hydraulic efficiency. With these modifications, the spillway capacity would

increase to approximately 70 m³/s with 400 mm of freeboard. Such upgrades would likely mitigate the

overtopping issue without the need for further hydrological study.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

8

Neither culvert crossing downstream of the spillway crest limits the spillway’s capacity to pass the IDF due

to their lower elevations, however, overtopping the existing roads is expected. The upstream culvert can

pass approximately 4.0 m³/s before overtopping. To improve freeboard, an additional 600 mm culvert

could be installed, or the structure could be replaced with a 2.0 × 1.8 m pipe arch to pass the IDF. The

downstream culvert cannot pass the IDF without overtopping. While some attenuation may occur in the

natural terrain upstream, this has not been quantified. Passing the IDF through the downstream crossing

would require either installing two additional 900 mm culverts, one 1,500 mm culvert, or replacing the

current culverts with two 1,500 mm culverts.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To lower the risk of future overtopping at Cridland Dam, it is recommended that MDPC implement the

following measures:

Remove Hydraulic Obstructions: Eliminate the weir at Sta. 0+050, remove the barbed wire fence

and trash rack at the spillway entrance, and regularly remove debris to prevent flow blockages.

Vegetation Management: To reduce flow resistance and improve hydraulic efficiency, routinely

cut grass short in the spillway channel and clear brush along the 90 m flat section.

These actions could be sufficient to prevent future overtopping if past events were primarily due to

spillway obstructions.

If MDPC aims to increase the confidence and safety margin of the spillway capacity, it is advisable to

excavate the spillway bed slope to remove the flat 90 m section as shown in the appended conceptual

drawings. This would create a continuous slope of approximately 1.24%, maintain the spillway crest

elevation, and increase the spillway capacity to about 70 m³/s with 400 mm freeboard, which greatly

exceeds the IDF estimate in the 2022 DSR.

If MDPC prefers to prevent overtopping of the existing roads during an IDF event, additional culvert

recommendations are as follows:

At the upstream culvert crossing, install an additional 600 mm culvert or replace the existing

crossing with a 2.0 × 1.8 m arch culvert.



Memorandum – Cridland Dam
Hydrotechnical Assessment

9

At the downstream culvert crossing, enhance crossing capacity by installing one of the following:

two additional 900 mm culverts, one additional 1,500 mm culvert, or replace the existing culverts

with two new 1,500 mm culverts.

Respectfully submitted,

MPE a division of Englobe

Prepared by:
Timothy Brooks, E.I.T.
Water Resource Engineer

Reviewed by:
Dylan Postman, P.Eng.
Project Manager

Attachment: Cridland Dam and Spillway Drawings, HEC-RAS Model Outputs, Sample Freeboard
Calculations, Culvert Rating Curves

106756
December 5, 2025

December 5, 2025



CR
ID

LA
N

D 
RE

SE
RV

O
IR

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

5-
30

 W
4M

N
E 

1/
4 

10
-5

-3
0 

W
4M

SE
 1

/4
 1

0-
5-

30
 W

4M

SW
 1

/4
 1

0-
5-

30
 W

4M

RGE RD 302A

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M

SP
IL

LW
AY

1

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

SI
TE

 P
LA

N



SE
 1

/4
 1

0-
05

-3
0 

W
4M

N
E 

1/
4 

10
-0

5-
30

 W
4M

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

05
-3

0 
W

4M

SW
 1

/4
 1

0-
05

-3
0 

W
4M

SW
 1

/4
 1

0-
05

-3
0 

W
4M

Ø
12

00
m

m
 C

SP
 C

UL
VE

RT
11

m
 LO

NG

Ø
90

0m
m

 C
SP

 C
UL

VE
RT

15
m

 LO
N

G

Ø
75

0m
m

 C
SP

 C
UL

VE
RT

15
m

 LO
N

G

0+377

0+
00

0

0+
02

0

0+
04

0

0+060

0+080

0+100

0+120

0+140

0+160

0+180

0+200

0+240

0+260

0+280

0+300

0+320

0+340

0+360

RGE RD 302A

CR
ID

LA
ND

 D
AM

 A
CC

ES
S R

OAD

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
RE

SE
RV

O
IR

A 3 B 4

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 W

EI
R

2

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

EX
IS

TI
N

G 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 P

LA
N



13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

0+
00

0
0+

02
0

0+
04

0
0+

06
0

0+
08

0
0+

10
0

0+
12

0
0+

14
0

0+
16

0
0+

18
0

0+
20

0
0+

22
0

0+
24

0
0+

26
0

0+
28

0
0+

30
0

0+
32

0
0+

34
0

0+
36

0
0+

37
7

A 2

S=
1.

23
6%

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 T

O
P 

O
F 

RI
G

H
T 

BA
N

K

EX
IS

IT
IN

G 
TO

P 
OF

 LE
FT

 B
AN

K

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 B

ED

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

PI
LL

W
AY

 C
RE

STPR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

P 
O

F 
RI

GH
T 

BA
N

K

IM
PE

RV
IO

US
 F

IL
L

EX
IS

TI
N

G 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 B

ED

TO
PS

O
IL

 S
TR

IP
PI

N
G

CO
M

M
O

N 
EX

CA
VA

TI
O

N

Ø
90

0m
m

 C
SP

 C
UL

VE
RT

15
m

 LO
NG

Ø
75

0m
m

 C
SP

CU
LV

ER
T

15
m

 LO
NG

Ø
12

00
m

m
 C

SP
 C

UL
VE

RT
11

m
 LO

NG

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 W

EI
R

3

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

SP
IL

LW
AY

 C
EN

TE
RL

IN
E 

PR
O

FI
LE



70
23

40
00

TY
P

1
   

  1
.5

 M
IN

1 1.
5 

M
IN

   
 

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 G

RO
U

N
D

TI
E 

IN
TO

 E
XI

ST
IN

G 
GR

O
UN

D

20
0 

ST
RI

PP
IN

G

900
MIN

15
0 

M
IN

 T
O

PS
O

IL
 P

LA
CE

M
EN

T

CO
M

M
O

N 
EX

CA
VA

TI
O

N

TI
E 

IN
TO

 E
XI

ST
IN

G 
SL

O
PE

TI
E 

IN
TO

 E
XI

ST
IN

G
TO

P 
O

F 
BA

NK

B 2

13
69

.8
7

IM
PE

RV
IO

US
 F

IL
L

4

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

0

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 R

EH
AB

IL
IT

AT
IO

N
TY

PI
CA

L S
EC

TI
O

N



ST
A 

0+
01

1

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
05

7

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
03

3

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
07

5

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
09

8

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
12

0

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

5

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
75

0

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 R

EH
AB

IL
IT

AT
IO

N
SE

CT
IO

N
S 

1 
O

F 
2



ST
A 

0+
12

9

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
75

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
18

0

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
15

7

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
73

13
74

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
20

5

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
22

4

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
23

6

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

6

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
75

0

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 R

EH
AB

IL
IT

AT
IO

N
SE

CT
IO

N
S 

2 
O

F 
2



ST
A 

0+
24

8

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
28

9

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
26

5

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
31

4

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
33

6

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

ST
A 

0+
35

5

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

0
10

20
30

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

7

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
75

0

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
SP

IL
LW

AY
 R

EH
AB

IL
IT

AT
IO

N
SE

CT
IO

N
S 

X 
O

F 
X



25
BH

00
2

25
BH

00
1

25
BH

00
3

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

05
-3

0 
W

4M

N
W

 1
/4

 1
0-

05
-3

0 
W

4M

C 8

B 8

A 8

0+
00

0

0+
09

9

BO
RE

HO
LE

 LO
CA

TI
O

N
(N

AD
83

 U
TM

12
 C

O
O

RD
IN

AT
ES

)

BH
 ID

25
BH

00
1

25
BH

00
2

25
BH

00
3

N
O

RT
HI

N
G

54
73

05
7.

1

54
73

08
0.

6

54
73

10
3.

6

EA
ST

IN
G

28
50

40
.5

28
50

20
.4

28
50

02
.1

EL
EV

AT
IO

N

13
69

.9

13
69

.8

13
69

.9

8

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
50

0

CR
ID

LA
ND

 D
AM

 P
LA

N



13
57

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
57

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

A 7

ST
A 

0+
02

0 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
01

13
69

.9
0

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
68

.7
9

ID
F

13
69

.3
0

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

B 7

ST
A 

0+
04

4 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
02

13
69

.8
7

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
69

.3
0

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

13
68

.7
9

ID
F

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

13
58

13
59

13
60

13
61

13
62

13
63

13
64

13
65

13
66

13
67

13
68

13
69

13
70

13
71

13
72

0
10

20
30

40
50

60
70

0
-1

0
-2

0
-3

0

C 7

ST
A 

0+
07

4 
 - 

 2
5B

H0
03

13
69

.8
9

TO
D

13
68

.0
0

FS
L

13
69

.3
0

M
AX

 W
AV

E 
HE

IG
HT

13
68

.7
9

ID
F

9

M
UN

IC
IP

AL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

PI
N

CH
ER

 C
RE

EK

DA
TE

:
17

70
-0

37
-0

0

CR
ID

LA
N

D 
DA

M
 H

YD
RO

LO
GY

 A
SS

ES
SM

EN
T

JU
LY

 2
02

5
SC

AL
E:

JO
B:

FI
GU

RE
:

1:
10

00

DA
M

 S
EC

TI
O

NS



0
5

10
15

20
25

13
68

.0

13
68

.5

13
69

.0

13
69

.5

13
70

.0

Sp
illw

ay
 E

nt
ra

nc
e 

   
   

Pl
an

: P
la

n 
01

   
 9

/9
/2

02
5 

  S
ta

. 0
+0

11

St
at

io
n 

(m
)

Elevation (m)

Le
ge
nd

EG
 P

F 
1

W
S 

PF
 1

G
ro

un
d

Ba
nk

 S
ta

.0
5

.0
27

.0
5



  

Plan: IDF Current Conditions    Cridland Spillwa    Entrance  RS: 87    Profile: PF 1
 E.G. Elev (m) 1368.80  Element Left OB Channel Right OB
 Vel Head (m) 0.02  Wt. n-Val.  0.050 0.027 0.050 
 W.S. Elev (m) 1368.79  Reach Len. (m) 20.00 22.00 24.00 
 Crit W.S. (m)   Flow Area (m2) 0.16 7.90 0.49 
 E.G. Slope (m/m) 0.000400  Area (m2) 0.16 7.90 0.49 
 Q Total (m3/s) 4.53  Flow (m3/s) 0.02 4.43 0.08 
 Top Width (m) 14.32  Top Width (m) 0.65 12.00 1.68 
 Vel Total (m/s) 0.53  Avg. Vel. (m/s) 0.13 0.56 0.17 
 Max Chl Dpth (m) 0.79  Hydr. Depth (m) 0.24 0.66 0.29 
 Conv. Total (m3/s) 226.4  Conv. (m3/s) 1.1 221.2 4.2 
 Length Wtd. (m) 22.00  Wetted Per. (m) 0.81 12.01 1.78 
 Min Ch El (m) 1368.00  Shear (N/m2) 0.76 2.58 1.09 
 Alpha  1.09  Stream Power (N/m s) 0.10 1.45 0.18 
 Frctn Loss (m) 0.01  Cum Volume (1000 m3) 0.01 0.44 0.01 
 C & E Loss (m) 0.00  Cum SA (1000 m2) 0.07 0.90 0.08 



St
at

io
n 

Us
ed

 :
1:

2 
W

in
d 

Sp
ee

d 
(k

m
/h

)
11

5
SW

(A
T,

 2
00

7)
1:

10
 W

in
d 

Sp
ee

d 
(k

m
/h

)
12

2
1

(A
T,

 2
00

7)
1:

10
0 

W
in

d 
Sp

ee
d 

(k
m

/h
)

12
9

1.
2

(C
DA

, 2
00

7)
1:

10
00

 W
in

d 
Sp

ee
d 

(k
m

/h
)

13
7

1.
37

 H
s

(C
DA

, 2
00

7)

Lo
ng

es
t F

et
ch

, F
 (k

m
)

0.
42

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
Fe

tc
h,

 F
E (

km
)

0.
23

9
Φ

14
.0

4
Em

ba
nk

m
en

t S
lo

pe
 (X

H 
: 1

V)
4

Co
t(Φ

)
X/

1
Re

se
rv

oi
r D

ep
th

 (m
)

6.
61 1:
2

1:
10

1:
10

0
1:

10
00

O
ve

rw
at

er
 W

in
d 

Sp
ee

d,
 U

 (k
m

/h
)

13
8.

00
14

6.
40

15
4.

80
16

4.
40

Re
fe

re
nc

es
 U

se
d:

O
ve

rw
at

er
 W

in
d 

Sp
ee

d,
 U

 (m
/s

)
38

.3
3

40
.6

7
43

.0
0

45
.6

7
1.

 H
yd

ro
te

ch
ni

ca
l C

on
sid

er
at

io
ns

 fo
r D

am
 S

af
et

y 
De

sig
n,

 C
an

ad
ia

n 
Da

m
 A

ss
oc

ia
tio

n 
(C

DA
); 

20
07

W
in

d 
St

re
ss

 F
ac

to
r, 

U A
 (m

/s
)

62
.9

6
67

.7
1

72
.5

1
78

.0
8

2.
 F

re
eb

oa
rd

 C
rit

er
ia

 a
nd

 G
ui

de
lin

es
 fo

r C
om

pu
tin

g 
Fr

ee
bo

ar
d 

Al
lo

w
an

ce
s f

or
 S

to
ra

ge
 D

am
s;

 
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 W
av

e 
He

ig
ht

, H
S (

m
)

0.
66

0.
71

0.
76

0.
82

   
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

 B
ur

ea
u 

of
 R

ec
la

m
at

io
n 

(U
SB

R)
, 1

98
1

De
sig

n 
W

av
e 

He
ig

ht
 H

' S,
 (m

)
0.

90
0.

97
1.

04
1.

12
3.

 S
ho

re
lin

e 
Pr

ot
ec

tio
n 

M
an

ua
l; 

Un
ite

d 
St

at
es

 A
rm

y 
Co

rp
s o

f E
ng

in
ee

rs
 (U

SA
CE

), 
20

03

W
av

e 
Pe

rio
d,

 T
 (s

ec
)

1.
86

1.
90

1.
95

2.
00

4.
 A

na
ly

sis
 o

f A
lb

er
ta

 H
ou

rly
 W

in
d 

Da
ta

; A
lb

er
ta

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

(A
T)

, 2
00

7
W

av
el

en
gt

h,
 L 

(m
)

5.
39

5.
66

5.
92

6.
22

5.
 D

es
ig

n 
of

 R
ip

ra
p 

Re
ve

tm
en

t, 
Fe

de
ra

l H
ig

hw
ay

 A
dm

in
ist

ra
tio

n 
(F

HW
A)

, 2
00

0
W

av
e 

Ru
n-

up
, R

S (
m

)*
0.

44
0.

47
0.

50
0.

53
W

av
e 

Se
tu

p,
 S

 (m
)*

*
0.

01
0.

01
0.

01
0.

02
**

 S
 B

as
ed

 o
n 

a 
re

se
rv

oi
r l

en
gt

h 
eq

ua
l t

o 
th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

fe
tc

h 
fro

m
 W

in
d 

Se
tu

p 
Ta

bl
e 

be
lo

w

M
in

im
um

 R
ip

ra
p 

D 5
0 (

m
m

)
22

5
27

5
27

5
30

0

1:
2

1:
10

1:
10

0
1:

10
00

0.
5

0.
02

0.
03

0.
03

0.
03

1
0.

05
0.

05
0.

06
0.

07
3

0.
14

0.
15

0.
17

0.
20

0.
23

9
0.

01
0.

01
0.

01
0.

02

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
Fe

tc
h 

fo
r n

ar
ro

w
 re

se
rv

oi
rs

 is
 ca

lc
ul

at
ed

 b
y 

dr
aw

in
g 

9 
ra

di
al

s f
ro

m
 a

 p
oi

nt
 o

n 
th

e 
M

ai
n 

Da
m

 to
 th

e 
op

po
sin

g 
sh

or
el

in
e 

at
 3

 d
eg

re
e 

in
te

rv
al

s. 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

    
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 T

he
 

le
ng

th
 o

f t
he

se
 ra

di
al

s w
er

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

an
d 

ar
ith

m
et

ia
lly

 a
ve

ra
ge

d.
 

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
Fe

tc
h 

fo
r w

in
d 

se
tu

p 
ca

n 
be

 lo
ng

er
 a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

as
se

se
d 

w
ith

 a
 se

ns
iti

vi
ty

 a
na

ly
sis

 fo
r l

on
g 

re
se

rv
oi

rs
.

Re
se

rv
oi

r D
ep

th
 (d

) r
ef

er
s t

o 
th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
de

pt
h 

of
 th

e 
re

se
rv

oi
r.

Ri
pr

ap
 S

izi
ng

 ro
un

de
d 

to
 n

ea
re

st
 2

5 
m

m
.  

W
in

d 
sp

ee
d 

re
du

ct
io

n 
w

as
 co

ns
id

er
ed

 fo
r r

ip
ra

p 
siz

in
g.

W
in

d 
Se

tu
p 

Se
ns

iti
vi

ty
 A

na
ly

sis

Fe
tc

h 
(k

m
)

W
in

d 
se

tu
p 

(m
)

Ba
se

d 
on

 th
e 

w
in

d 
se

tu
p 

se
ns

iti
vi

ty
 a

na
ly

sis
, t

he
 fe

tc
h 

le
ng

th
 le

ng
th

 h
as

 m
in

im
al

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
w

in
d 

se
tu

p 
re

su
lt.

 T
he

re
fo

re
 th

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

fe
tc

h 
of

 C
rid

la
nd

 D
am

 w
as

 u
se

d 
fo

r t
he

 w
in

d 
se

t-u
p 

ca
lc

ul
at

io
n

AS
SU

M
PT

IO
N

S 
AN

D 
AD

DI
TI

O
N

AL
 IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N

Fe
tc

h 
fo

r w
in

d 
he

ig
ht

 ca
lc

ul
at

io
ns

 is
 co

ns
id

er
ed

 to
 b

e 
th

e 
lo

ng
es

t d
ist

an
ce

 b
et

w
ee

n 
th

e 
da

m
 a

nd
 th

e 
op

po
sin

g 
sh

or
el

in
e.

 (2
00

7)

W
av

e 
Ca

lc
ul

at
io

ns
Cr

id
la

nd
 D

am

Cr
ite

ria
AE

P 
Re

tu
rn

 P
er

io
d

Fr
ee

bo
ar

d 
Re

qu
ire

d 
(m

), 
Ru

n-
up

 +
 S

et
up

0.
45

0.
48

0.
51

0.
55

Cr
id

la
nd

 D
am

Cr
id

la
nd

 D
am

 (I
DF

) -
 F

re
eb

oa
rd

 C
al

cu
at

io
ns

W
AV

E 
FO

RM
UL

AS

W
IN

D 
DA

TA
 (D

at
a 

fr
om

 A
T,

 2
00

7)
Cr

id
la

nd
 D

am
19

 P
in

ch
er

 C
re

ek
De

sig
n 

W
in

d 
Di

re
ct

io
n

W
in

d 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

Fa
ct

or
O

ve
rw

at
er

 F
ac

to
r

5%
 O

ve
rt

op
pi

ng
 H

ei
gh

t (
H'

S)

RE
SE

RV
O

IR
 D

AT
A

Da
m

 F
ac

e 
An

gl
es

ܵ=ܷଶ
ܨ∗ E 4850∗

݀
ܶ=6.2

10ିݔ38
ଵ ஺ܷ

ଵܧܨ∗
ଷൗ

1.5=ܮ
6ܶଶ

′ܪ ௌ=1
ܪ37. ௦

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

US
BR

, 1
98

1

σ

1

X

ܪ ௦=1
1ݔ616.

0ିଶ ∗
஺ܷ∗ܨ ଴ܧ

.ହ

ܷ ௔=0
.71∗ܷ

ଵ.ଶଷ

ܴ ௦=
′ܪ ௦

0.4+
′ܪ ௦ ൗܮ

଴.ହ ∗cot 
ߠ

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

CD
A,

 2
00

7

US
BR

, 1
98

1*

Φ

1

X

* 
Ru

nu
p

(R
S) 

as
su

m
es

 a
 ri

pr
ap

 sl
op

e,
  i

f a
 sm

oo
th

 sl
op

e 
is 

   
pr

es
en

t r
un

-u
p 

m
us

t b
e 

m
ut

lit
ie

d 
 b

y 
up

 to
 1

.5
 d

ep
en

di
ng

 
on

 sm
oo

th
ne

ss
 o

f s
ur

fa
ce

.

ܦ ହ଴=
0.57 ∗

ܪ ௌ ଵݐ݋ܿ ଷ ߠ
FH

W
A,

 2
00

0

* 
D 50

siz
e 

is 
es

tim
at

ed
 u

sin
g 

a 
ro

ck
 w

ei
gh

to
f 2

65
0 

kg
/m

3



Performance Curves Report
Upstream Culvert

Title: Cridland Spillway
m:\...\culvertmaster\spillway culverts.cvm
07/24/25  01:59:15 PM

MPE Engineering Ltd
© Bentley Systems, Incorporated    Haestad Methods Solution Center    Watertown, CT 06795 USA    +1-203-755-1666

Project Engineer: tbrooks@mpe.ca
CulvertMaster v10.3 [10.03.00.03]

Page 1 of 1

Range Data:

Minimum Maximum Increment
Discharge 0.0000 5.2000 0.1000 m³/s

Performance Curves

Discharge
(m³/s)

(m
)

H
e
a

d
w

a
te

r 
E

le
va

tio
n

1365.2

1365.4

1365.6

1365.8

1366.0

1366.2

1366.4

1366.6

1366.8

1367.0

1367.2

0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5

HW Elev.



Performance Curves Report
Downstream Culverts

Title: Cridland Spillway
m:\...\culvertmaster\spillway culverts.cvm
07/10/25  01:15:54 PM

MPE Engineering Ltd
© Bentley Systems, Incorporated    Haestad Methods Solution Center    Watertown, CT 06795 USA    +1-203-755-1666

Project Engineer: tbrooks@mpe.ca
CulvertMaster v10.3 [10.03.00.03]

Page 1 of 1

Range Data:

Minimum Maximum Increment
Discharge 0.0000 4.5300 0.0100 m³/s

Performance Curves

Discharge
(m³/s)

(m
)

H
e
a

d
w

a
te

r 
E

le
va

tio
n

1361.5

1362.0

1362.5

1363.0

1363.5

1364.0

1364.5

1365.0

1365.5

0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0

HW Elev.



Administration Guidance Request

TITLE: Request to Waive Tax Penalties - Tax Roll 1736.000

PREPARED BY: Sara-Lynn Warren DATE: January 14, 2026

DEPARTMENT: Finance

Department

Supervisor

Date

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Letter from Elisa Olsen

APPROVALS:

Department Director Date CAO Date

REQUEST:

That Council consider waiving the tax penalties on tax roll 1736.000 in the amount of $666.64

BACKGROUND:

Per MD Bylaw 1264-15, a 2% penalty was applied on July 2, 2025, 4% penalty was applied on

November 1, 2025, and a 12% penalty was applied on January 2,2026.

Elisa's tax notice was mailed to the address on file; however, it was returned. It is the responsibility of

the rate payer to inquire if not received, or to change address if living elsewhere.

An arrears letter was sent to the same address in November 2025, which Elisa confirmed she received.

The account is paid in full.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

TBD

Presented to: Council Meeting

Date of Meeting: January 27, 2026
Page 1 of 1

G2a



Dear Counsel of Pincher Creek,

I hope you're well. I'm writing regarding my 2025 property tax account for29111
highway 507, Ciaran Olsen. I would like to explain our situation and respectfully request
consideration for a waiver or reduction of the late penalty fees that have
accumulated.

Earlier in the year, we were out of the country for an extended period, and the
original tax notice that was mailed was returned to the Town office as
undeliverable we did not receive it at our address. Because we were unaware of the
outstanding taxes and the due date, we did not know a payment was required until
much later in the year when we returned and came into the office to make the payment
in person.

We fully understand that property tax payments are due by June 30 each year, and that
penalties are applied to outstanding balances thereafter if they're not paid on time.
According to the Town's property tax information, penalties of 12 % on July 1 and a
further 10 % on January 3 are added to unpaid current taxes.

However, we were never notified of the original deadline because the mailed notice was
not delivered to us, and we were not aware of the payment requirement until much later.
Had we received the notice in a timely manner, we would have made the payment well
before the deadline. We did not intentionally delay or avoid payment it was simply a
matter of not receiving any notice until after the year had ended.

We were surprised by the size of the accumulated late fees (including the recent $450
charge) and it has placed a significant financial strain on us, especially as we
have three children and another on the way. These unexpected penalties are difficult
for us to absorb, particularly given that we would have paid the taxes on time if we had
been informed.

We understand that municipalities are permitted to apply penalties for unpaid taxes, and
that responsibility for ensuring receipt of tax notices rests with the property owner.

However, given our situation where the notice was returned and we were unaware of
the requirement we are kindly requesting that Council consider waiving or reducing
the late penalty fees in this case due to the exceptional circumstances.

We would be very grateful for your understanding and assistance. Please let me know if
any additional documentation is needed.

Thank you very much for your time and consideration.

Have a great rest of your week,

Elisa Olsen



Recommendation to Council

TITLE; BYLAW No. 1368-26 (Land Use Bylaw Amendment -

Secondary Suites)

PREPARED BY: Laura McKinnon DATE: January 21, 2026

DEPARTMENT:
^t

Planning and Development

Department

Supervisor

W;3/

Date

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Bylaw No. 1368-26

APPROVALS:

Department Director Date CAO Date

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council give first reading to Bylaw No. 1368-26, being the Land Use Bylaw Amendment

(Secondary Suites), and set a date for the required Public Hearing on March 10,2026 at 3;00 pm.

BACKGROUND:

Through the years bylaws can become outdated and require updates to keep current with the changing
desires and wishes of Council, the public, and even provincial and/or federal regulations.

The current Land Use Bylaw, Bylaw No. 1349-23 was adopted in Spring 2024, with various amendments
including alignment with the Municipal Development Plan and Castle Mountain Resort Area Structure

Plan.

The general purpose of Bylaw No. 1368-26 is to allow for an adjustment in the Secondary Suite

definitions, and subsequently those that are related to it, such as Tourist Homes, Principal Dwelling and the

new concept of Maximum Density of a parcel.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

None.

Presented to: Council

Date of Meeting: January 27, 2026
Page 1 of 1

G3b



Bylaw No. 1368-26 Page 1 of 3 

MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 
BYLAW NO. 1368-26 

Being a bylaw of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 in the Province of Alberta, 
to amend Bylaw No. 1349-23, being the Land Use Bylaw. 

WHEREAS Section 640 of the Municipal Government Act, Revised Statutes of 
Alberta 2000, Chapter M-26, as amended, provides that a 
municipality must pass a Land Use Bylaw;  

WHEREAS The Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 desire to amend 
sections of the Land Use Bylaw as shown on Schedule ‘A’ attached 
hereto; and 

 WHEREAS The purpose of the proposed amendment is to add a detached 
secondary suite and to limit the dwelling density within the 
agriculturally oriented districts in the Land Use Bylaw; 

NOW THEREFORE, under the authority and subject to the provisions of the Municipal 
Government Act, Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000, Chapter M-26, as amended, the Council 
of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9, in the Province of Alberta, duly 
assembled does hereby enact the following: 

1. This bylaw shall be cited as “Land Use Bylaw Amendment No. 1368-26”.

2. Amendments to Land Use Bylaw No. 1349-23 as per “Schedule A” attached. That
the amendments to Bylaw No. 1349-23, being the Land Use Bylaw, include
additions to section that affect numbering and formatting which will be changed to
maintain the consistency of the portions of the Bylaw being amended.

3. This bylaw shall come into force and effect upon third and final passing thereof and
a consolidated version of the Land Use Bylaw reflecting the amendment is
authorized to be prepared.

READ a first time this ____ day of __________________, 2026. 

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this ____ day of __________________, 2026. 

READ a second time this  ____ day of __________________, 2026. 

READ a third time and finally PASSED this  ____ day of __________________, 2026. 

_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Reeve                                                               Chief Administrative Officer 
Rick Lemire  Roland Milligan 



Schedule ‘A’ to Bylaw No. 1368-26         Page 2 of 3 
 

SCHEDULE ‘A’ 
 
1. Revise Part I – General Section 6 Definitions as follows: 
 

6.140 Secondary Suite 
An additional dwelling unit located on a property containing a single unit residence, which 
is subordinate to the principal dwelling primary residence. The secondary suite must be 
located within the same yard as the principal dwelling. The unit must have a separate 
entrance from the principal dwelling, either from a common indoor landing or directly from the 
exterior of the house. A secondary suite shall not be developed within a “Duplex”, “Semi-
detached dwelling”, “Multi-unit dwelling”, “Manufactured home park”, “Rowhouse or 
townhouse” or “Apartment”. “Garden suite”, “Surveillance suite”, and “Secondary farm 
residence” are separate uses. 
 
6.121  Principal Dwelling 
Principal dwelling means the primary residence unit located on a titled piece of land. 
 

2. Delete and replace Part VII Section 42.1 and 42.2 with the following: 
 
42.1 The maximum number of dwelling units per parcel of land is as regulated through the 
applicable land use district and associated use specific standards of development of this 
Bylaw. 
 
42.2 No person shall construct or locate, or cause to be constructed or located, more than 
one dwelling unit on a parcel except as provided in the land use district for which the 
application is made and authorized by the Development Authority through issuance of a 
development permit for a use that allows for more than one dwelling in accordance with the 
provisions of this Bylaw. 
 

3. Revise Part VII Section 42.3 with the following: 
 
42.3 Within the Agriculture – A, Airport Vicinity Protection – AVP, Urban Fringe – UF, Wind 
Farm Industrial – WFI districts, one or more additional dwelling units may be located on a 
parcel provided that: 
(a) all such dwelling units are secondary farm residences on a parcel that has an area 
greater than 32.4 ha (80 acres) and this use is a permitted or discretionary use in the 
applicable district; and 
(b) all such dwelling units comply with this bylaw. 
 

4. Revise Part VIII Tourist Home Section 47.15 by changing the following: 
 

47.15 Within the Agriculture – A district, a tourist home may be considered on properties that 
have a principal dwelling and that may also have a secondary suite or a secondary farm 
residence. and/or Only one of the dwelling units may be considered for the Tourist Home 
use. Alternatively, where a principal dwelling is located on the site, a tourist home may be 
approved as a maximum of two (2) supplemental recreation vehicle spaces and is to be 
designated as a seasonal tourist home in place of designating a dwelling unit as a tourist 
home.  

 
5. Revise Part VIII Section 49 Garden and Secondary Suites by changing Section 49.5(c) 

to the following: 
 

(c) in the Agriculture – A, Airport Vicinity Protection – AVP, Urban Fringe – UF, Wind Farm 
Industrial – WFI districts where listed as a permitted or discretionary use, a secondary suite 
may be considered (as shown in figure below) as a second storey garage (or shop) suite or 
detached dwelling. All secondary suites in this category are limited to a maximum building 
footprint or floor area of 1000 ft2 (28.32m2). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Revise Part IX – Districts Section 2 by removing ‘Garden Suite’ from the Agriculture 

– A, Airport Vicinity Protection – AVP, Rural Business – RB, Urban Fringe – UF, 
Wind Farm Industrial – WFI districts. 
 

7. Revise Part IX – Districts by adding to Agriculture – A, Airport Vicinity Protection – 
AVP, Rural Business – RB, Urban Fringe – UF, Wind Farm Industrial – WFI districts 
the following: 
 



Bylaw No. 1368-26             Page 3 of 3 
 

3. Maximum Density 
For all subdivided parcels that are less than 32.4 ha (80 acres) the maximum number of 
dwelling units is two (2). This can be any combination of a principal dwelling with a secondary 
suite as defined by Section 49. For those properties that were approved for a secondary farm 
residence and were subdivided the secondary farm residence will need a permit to transition 
to a secondary suite. Where a subdivided parcel contains more than 2 dwelling units, each 
dwelling unit greater than two will be considered legal non-conforming and cannot be altered 
or added to with an addition or secondary suite. 



CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
January 12, 2025, to January 23, 2026 

Discussion: 

Jan 13 Council Committee and Regular Council Meetings 
Jan 14 ASB Meeting 
Jan 14 JHSC Meeting 
Jan 15 Labour Management Meeting 

Upcoming: 

Jan 27 Council Committee and Regular Council Meetings 
Jan 30 Leadership Education Session on OHS Responsibilities 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That Council receives for information the Chief Administrative Officer’s report for the period January 12, 
2026, to January 23, 2026. 

Prepared by: Roland Milligan, CAO Date: January 20, 2026 

Respectfully presented to: Council Date: January 27, 2026 

G4a



ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT ACTIVITY  
January 8, 2026 to January 22, 2026 

 
Correspondence from the Last Council: 
 

• Letters of Support  
o Pincher Creek Community Hall,  
o Search and Rescue and  
o Town of Pincher Creek Intergenerational Day 

• Thank you for Attending  
o Pincher Creek & District Library 
o Northback  

• Denial of Waiving Tax Penalties  
• Notification of Water Licenses – Minister of Environment and Protected Areas  

 
Advertising/Social: 

• Producers Meeting – Alberta Beef Producers – Fort MacLeod January 29, 2026  
• Closure of Offices and Eco Centre – Due to Water Main Break  
• Pincher Standpipe Closure – Due to Water Main Break  
• Information Session – Proposed Communication Tower  
• Lundbreck Road Closure – Sewer Line Repair   
• Crowsnest Pincher Creek Landfill Closure – Hazardous Winds  
• Employment Opportunity – Ag Services Assistant Manager  
• Agricultural Service Board Meeting  
• Council/Committee Package  

Other Activities: 

• Regular Committee, Council  
• ASB Meeting 
• Assisted with Southwest Alberta Rural Crime Watch Meeting  
• Meeting with Town staff regarding 2026 Joint Events (ReUse Fair, Volunteer Appreciation and Canada 

Day Fireworks)  
• Emergency Management Meeting – Declaring State of Local Emergency  

Invites to Council: 

• Invitation to Waterton/ID #4 to Attend Council – they will reach out later this Fall with a presentation 
and to attend an MD Council meeting  

Upcoming Dates of Importance: 
 

• Southwest Alberta Rural Crime Watch Meeting – January 21, 2026  
• Regular Committee, Council – January 26, 2026  
• State of Local Emergency Training Session – January 22, 2026  
• ATIA/POPA Coordinator's Virtual Roundtable 2026  
 



Recommendation to Council

TITLE: CORPORATE POLICY C-CO-009 ENFORCEMENT SERVICES
APPEAL BOARD & COMMITTEE MEMBERS

PREPARED BY: JESSICA MCCLELLAND DATE: January 21, 2026

DEPARTMENT: ADMINISTRATION

Department
Supervisor

Date

ATTACHMENTS: Draft C-CO-009
ENFORCEMENT SERVICES APPEAL
BOARD

APPROVALS:

Department Director Date CAO Date

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council approve policy C-CO-009, Enforcement Services Appeal Board.

AND ALSO

That Jeff Hammond and Laurie Klausen be appointed as the MD Community Members at Large to

the Enforcement Services Appeal Board, until the Organizational Meeting of 2026,

AND THAT a Councillor be appointed as the Council Member for the Enforcement Services Appeal

Board, until the Organizational Meeting of 2026.

BACKGROUND:

Policy C-CO-009: Enforcement Services Appeal Board, is to determine appeals brought forward to the

MD by recipients of notices under Enforcement Services.

Members-at-large appointed to MD Committees are paid in accordance with C-CO-01, Council

Remuneration and Expenses Policy, and are appointed at the Organizational meeting. As this is a new

Council committee, members will be appointed now, and the committee will be added to the list for the
2026 Organizational meeting.

JeffHammond and Laurie Klausen have previously agreed to offer their time to serve on this committee,

should the committee need to meet.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Payment for committee members at large for required meetings.

Presented to: Council Meeting

Date of Meeting: January 26, 2026
Page 1 of 1

7

G4b



'0 -.

^i:.. ^t^tuMvy\

w '

^. .J
M.D. OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9

CORPORATE POLICY
C-CO-009

TITLE: ENFORCEMENT SERVICES APPEAL BOARD

Approved by Council Date: Pending

APPLICABLE PROVINCIAL LEGISLATION: Municipal Government Act

PURPOSE OF POLICY:

To appoint an independent Enforcement Services Appeal Board.

POLICY STATEMENT

To hear and determine appeals brought forward to the MD by recipients of notices issued under

Enforcement Services.

APPLICATION OF THIS POLICY

1. The Enforcement Services Appeal Board is hereby constituted under the following terms:

(a) The Board shall be a Committee of Council;

(b) The Board shall consist of 3 members, comprised of 1 Councillor and 2 members of

the general public;

(c) Members will be selected and appointed by Council annually at the Organizational

Meeting of Council;

(d) The Board may adopt a set of rules and procedures with respect to the conduct of

appeals; and

(e) In the event that any member of Council appointed as a member of the Board cannot

be in attendance at a meeting of the Board, any other member of Council may sit as a

substitute for that member of the Board.

2. Pursuant to Section 203 of the Municipal Government Act, Council hereby delegates its

authority under Section 547 of the Municipal Government Act, to the Enforcement Services

Appeal Board. This Board may hear appeals of Remedial Orders and Orders to Remedy

issued pursuant to Sections 545 and 546 of the Municipal Government Act.

Page 1 of 2



ft '6 .:... ^•('r^, ln«.^^nw»c^
. m... } i W

, ^\
M.D. OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9

CORPORATE POLICY
C-CO-009

TITLE: ENFORCEMENT SERVICES APPEAL BOARD

Approved by Council Date: Pending

3. The owner or occupant of a premises, who is subject to an Order issued by the

Enforcement Services Appeal Board, shall comply with the provisions and conditions as

set out in the Order.

Rick Lemire Roland Milligan
Reeve Chief Administrative Officer

Page 2 of 2



Wednesday
March 18th March 19th March 20th

9:00 a.m.- 5:00 p.m. Registration and Exhibit Set Up

11:00 a.m. - NOON Lunch and Refreshments

1:00 p.m.

5:00 p.m.

6:00 p.m.

TOUR #1

Newell Regional Waste Landfill and
Pivot Spirits, Rolling Hills, AB

(Buses provided)

COCKTAILS (Cash Bar)

Welcoming Remarks from the Mayor of
City of Brooks
Welcoming Remarks from the Reeve of
County of Newell

BUFFET BANQUET

Newell Regional Solid Waste Authority

NEWELL
REGIONAL LAMDFILL

<
<*-

Alberta CARE

Cancellation Deadline
March 13th 2026

7:00 a.m. Exhibit Viewing & Buffet Breakfast

8:15 a.m. Welcome - Rob Smith, Chairman of Alberta CARE

8:30 a.m. Newell Landfill Disaster
Kendra Johnston , Newell Regional Waste Authority

9:15 a.m. Waste to Energy Project
Joint Presentations -Shawn McKay, Newell Regional
Waste Authority and John Swain, Global Green

10:00 a.m. Tire-Direved Aggregate (TDA)
Pat Sliworsky, Alberta Recycling Management Authority

10:45 a.m Beyond the Pile: Modern Composting Strategies
to Overcome Contamination & Inefficiency
in Rural Alberta
Roxanne Doerksen, Cyrus County

NOON BUFFET LUNCHEON

1:00 p.m. Alberta Recycling Management Authority Update
Ed Gugenhiemer,CEO

1:45 p.m. Alberta CARE Delegates Round Table -
Circular Materials
Chairman Rob Smith

3:00 p.m. Circular Materials Presentation
Blaire Gaalaas, Director of Circular Materials

5:00 p.m. Cocktails

6:30 p.m. BUFFET BANQUET

8:00 p.m. Silent Auction Ends

.!'°F'1'~r t-i?3r '"'fi's'"iri

10% Discount!
This Seminar is Alberta Environment approved

for 'Continuing Education Units'

Printed on 100% Post-Consumer Recycled Paper

7:00 a.m. Exhibit Viewing & Hot Buffet Breakfast

8:30 a.m. Landfill Waste Wood Management
Jim Donaldson, Canadian Wood Waste Recycling

9:15 a.m. Small Drones for Landfill Ownership
Associated Engineers (Calgary)

10:00 a.m. RCMP Crime Prevention Liaison for Alberta
K Division for Waste Management and
Recycling Facilities

11:00 a.m. Closing Remarks - Tom Moore, Alberta Care
Member

(Coffee Side Bar all Morning)

JBS City Centre

^^

Brooks Aqueduct

ALBERTA Coordinated Action for
Recycling Enterprises (CARE)

1-780-980-8089 Phone

H1a



Please forward registrations & payment to:
ALBERTA C.A.R.E.
Linda McDonald, Executive Director
5212-49 Street
Leduc,AB T9E 7H5
Cell:780-668-6767
Email: executivedirector@alberta care.org
Web: www.albertacare.org

Who Should Attend?
• Municipal Elected Officials

• Waste Commission Managers

• Landfill Operators

• Public Works Employees

• Eco Centre Employees

• Alberta Recycling Associations

• Alberta Landfill Engineers

• Waste Management Vendors

• Waste Disposal Companies

• School Boards, Education Facilitators

• Anyone interested in Reusing, Reducing,

Recycling and Recovery

Silent Auction
Going once...

Going twice..

Ends March 19/26
at 8:00 p.m.

Alberta CARE
Spring Seminar

March 18th - March 2Qth

2C26
Accommodations

Heritage Inn Hotel and
Convention Centre

1217 2nd Street West
Brooks, Alberta

Group Reservation: Alberta CARE

a

^^ '"•<"<

Downtown Brooks

Brooks

Alberta CARE
Spring Seminar

March 18th - March 20th

2 € 2 6
Heritage Inn Hotel anf Convention Centre

1217 2nd Street West
Brooks, Alberta

Newell Lake

mn wp^lll.^w— •••••

Dinosaur Provincial Park



Registration Form
ALBERTA CARE Spring Seminar 2026

March 18th to 20th, 2026
Heritage Inn Hotel and Convention Centra

1217 2nd Street West, Brooks, AB
Block of Room under Alberta CARE

Names:

Organization:

Address:

Email Address: Phone:

NO CHARGE FOR TOURS:

Please indicate the number attending Wednesday Tour #1

Sub Total $

Seminar Fee: $600.00 p.p $

LESS 10% (if 3 or more attend) $_

GST $

SEQUses_or Guests attending meals:

Breakfast Buffet® $25.00 p.p.
Luncheon @ 30.00 p.p.
Buffet @ 60.00 p.p.

TOTAL

MAIL PAYMENT OR EFT TO: Alberta CARE, 5212 49 Street, Leduc, Alberta T9E 7H5
EMAIL: executivedirector@albertacare.org or for information call Cell: 780-668-6767

Please indicate any food allergies:





Outlook

Fw: Question for Motion for Pincher Creek MD Council

From Roland Milligan <AdminCAO@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca>
Date Wed 2026-01-21 13:20
To Jessica McClelland <AdminExecAsst@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca>

Council Action Information

Roland Milligan
Chief Administrative Officer
M.D. of Pincher Creek No. 9
Box 279
1037 Herron Avenue
Pincher Creek, AB  T0K1W0
Phone:  403-627-3130
Email:  AdminCAO@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca

Emails and associated attachments are confidential and intended solely for the individual or entity to whom they have been
addressed.  In the event you have received this email by mistake, please notify the sender and delete if from your email
system.  Disclosing, copying, or distributing this information is strictly prohibited.  We do not accept any liability from
software viruses that may have been transmitted via email, or associated attachments.  

From: Kayla Lorenzen <klorenzen@pinchercreeklibrary.ca>
Sent: January 21, 2026 12:19
To: Roland Milligan <AdminCAO@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca>
Subject: Question for Motion for Pincher Creek MD Council

Hello Roland,

Question for Motion for Pincher Creek MD Council

Would MD Council be interested in staff from the Public Library Services Branch (PLSB) of Municipal
Affairs with the Government of Alberta coming to Pincher Creek to present a session on the roles and
responsibilities of municipal councils and library boards in the Province of Alberta?

This presentation would be a meeting in and of itself separate from any council or board meetings and
usually takes about 2 hours in the evening or on the weekend.

If MD Council moves that they would like this presentation from PLSB staff, please let me know and I will
organize the session for everyone.

Thanks so much and have a wonderful day,

Kayla

Kayla Lorenzen (She/Her)
Library Manager
Pincher Creek & District Municipal Library

H1b



899 Main Street, Box 2020
Pincher Creek, AB
T0K 1W0
(403) 627-3813
klorenzen@pinchercreeklibrary.ca
https://pinchercreeklibrary.ca
 
 

mailto:klorenzen@pinchercreeklibrary.ca
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fpinchercreeklibrary.ca%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7Cf2ced175944d4939649808de592a7137%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639046236011335144%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ZbQBxRnjqpnwy4vh7%2BDNo83SAPx4WPKwdUl3vfjE7Gk%3D&reserved=0


Outlook

Spring 2026 Rural Municipalities of Alberta Convention

From TEC Municipal Engagement <TEC.MunicipalEngagement@gov.ab.ca>
Date Thu 2026-01-22 09:36
Cc TEC Municipal Engagement <TEC.MunicipalEngagement@gov.ab.ca>

Good morning, 
  
I am pleased to advise there may be an opportunity to meet with the Honourable Devin Dreeshen, Minister of
Transportation and Economic Corridors, during the upcoming Spring 2026 Rural Municipalities of Alberta
Convention in Edmonton, from March 16-18, 2026.
  
Please REPLY to this email by Monday, February 2, 2026, to express your interest for a meeting. We request that
you include your top three  priority items for discussion along with a list of potential meeting attendees.

A response will be provided once availability and a meeting schedule are confirmed. 

Kind regards,

Jessica Kalmar (she/her)
Issues Manager, Office of the Assistant Deputy Minister
Construction and Maintenance Division
Transportation and Economic Corridors
Government of Alberta

Tel   780-644-3230
Cell  587-334-3664
Jessica.Kalmar@gov.ab.ca 

Classification: Protected A

H1c

mailto:Jessica.Kalmar@gov.ab.ca
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C035bf08cf837411bd51108de59d471f4%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639046966183563568%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=p4x4r1x0AUJnMgQOJld1IVY9%2FI7JQi73Cc953PCWyVg%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C035bf08cf837411bd51108de59d471f4%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639046966183563568%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=p4x4r1x0AUJnMgQOJld1IVY9%2FI7JQi73Cc953PCWyVg%3D&reserved=0


Outlook

Recognition of Participating CEIP Communities for Emerald Awards for Environmental Excellence

From Eddie Chan <Eddie@abmunis.ca>
Date Mon 2026-01-19 16:46
To 

Hello CEIP Municipalities,

Alberta Municipalities is in the process of submitting a nomination for the Emerald Awards for
Environmental Excellence in recognition of the Clean Energy Improvement Program (CEIP).

As part of this submission, we plan to recognize Alberta Municipalities and all participating
municipalities for their role in delivering CEIP and advancing community-level environmental action
across Alberta. The intent is to acknowledge the collective impact made through municipal participation
in the program.

We are reaching out to confirm whether your municipality is comfortable being included as a
participating municipality in this nomination. No additional work or information is required from you or
your municipality, and inclusion would be limited to recognition as a CEIP participant.

If your municipality would prefer NOT to be included in the nomination, please let us know by Friday,
January 30th. If we do not hear from you by that time, we will assume your municipality is comfortable
being included.

If you have any questions, feel free to reach out.

Thank you!

Eddie

Eddie Chan  | Marketing Advisor

D: 780.989.7416 | E: Eddie@abmunis.ca
300, 8616 51 Ave NW Edmonton, AB T6E 6E6
Toll Free: 310-MUNI | 877-421-6644 |
 www.abmunis.ca

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are
addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify the sender. This message contains confidential information and is
intended only for the individual named. If you are not the named addressee, you should not disseminate, distribute or copy this email.

We respectfully acknowledge that we live, work, and play on the traditional 
 and ancestral territories of many Indigenous, First Nations, Métis, and Inuit peoples. 
We acknowledge that what we call Alberta is the traditional and ancestral territory of many peoples, 
 presently subject to  Treaties 4, 6, 7, 8 and 10 and Six Regions of the Métis Nation of Alberta.

H2a

https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Femeraldfoundation.ca%2Femeraldawards%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cadminexecasst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C28104669b9764d49dad508de57b4eb4a%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639044631734465186%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ioC739%2FRWuKOPP0qKR1PiYTFksrV%2B0RO0YIYcFNvKJY%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Femeraldfoundation.ca%2Femeraldawards%2F&data=05%7C02%7Cadminexecasst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C28104669b9764d49dad508de57b4eb4a%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639044631734465186%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ioC739%2FRWuKOPP0qKR1PiYTFksrV%2B0RO0YIYcFNvKJY%3D&reserved=0


Outlook

Fw: Water (Ministerial) Regulation Change - Exemptions to support water availability

From Roland Milligan <AdminCAO@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca>
Date Tue 2026-01-20 10:38
To Jessica McClelland <AdminExecAsst@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca>

Council info

Roland Milligan
Chief Administrative Officer
M.D. of Pincher Creek No. 9
Box 279
1037 Herron Avenue
Pincher Creek, AB  T0K1W0
Phone:  403-627-3130
Email:  AdminCAO@mdpinchercreek.ab.ca

Emails and associated attachments are confidential and intended solely for the individual or entity to whom they have been
addressed.  In the event you have received this email by mistake, please notify the sender and delete if from your email
system.  Disclosing, copying, or distributing this information is strictly prohibited.  We do not accept any liability from
software viruses that may have been transmitted via email, or associated attachments.  

From: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Sent: January 20, 2026 10:16
To: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Cc: Kate Rich <Kate.Rich@gov.ab.ca>; Gary Sandberg <gary.sandberg@gov.ab.ca>; Amy Mannix
<Amy.Mannix@gov.ab.ca>; Robyn Saude <Robyn.Saude@gov.ab.ca>; Erika Rebus <Erika.Rebus@gov.ab.ca>
Subject: Water (Ministerial) Regulation Change - Exemptions to support water availability

Sent to: all municipal CAOs contacts in the Municipal Officials Directory

Hello,
I am writing to inform you of amendments to the Water (Ministerial) Regulation regarding exemptions
from requiring a Water Act licence or approval that are effective from January 13, 2026. The changes
follow from the water availability engagement. 

The Government of Alberta has expanded some existing exemptions and added new exemptions for low
risk activities, namely:

Expansions / changes to existing exemptions:
Increased quantity and/or size limits for existing exemptions for dugouts, stormwater ponds,
wetland construction, and temporary camps.
A definition of dugout has been added to the regulation, specifying the intended agricultural
purpose of dugouts. This clarifies and reinforces that to qualify for the exemption, the
purpose of the storage and use of the water must be for agricultural purposes.  This means
the exemption is for agricultural purposes only, and that a licence is required (and in some
areas a water transfer) to use dugouts for purposes other than agriculture.

New exemptions:

H2b



Exemptions established for emergency preparedness, bridge and sign washing, dust
control, and Green Area borrow pits on public lands​.

 
Information on the changes are available online, including:

News release at: New rules boost water storage and conservation | alberta.ca
Ministerial Order (Effective January 13, 2026) at: M.O. 26/2025 - Environment and Protected
Areas
Water (Ministerial) Regulation at: Alberta King's Printer
These are additional to regulation amendments to exempt riparian restoration watering announced
in July - Freedom to water | alberta.ca

 
Thank you to those who provided feedback on the exemptions during the water availability engagement.
 
If you have questions on the changes, please let me know or contact epa.water@gov.ab.ca.
 
Kate
Kathleen Rich
Assistant Deputy Minister, Water and Circular Economy Division, Alberta Environment and Protected
Areas
Government of Alberta
Level 12, South Petroleum Plaza, 9915-108 Street, Edmonton, Alberta
E: kate.rich@gov.ab.ca    I    M: 780-203-0844
 
 
 
 

Classification: Protected A

From: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Sent: October-30-25 4:44 PM
To: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Cc: Kate Rich <Kate.Rich@gov.ab.ca>; Gary Sandberg <gary.sandberg@gov.ab.ca>
Subject: Government of Alberta Bill 7 Water Amendment Act
 
Sent to: all municipal CAOs contacts in the Municipal Officials Directory
 
I am writing to inform you that a bill to amend the Water Act was tabled today in the Alberta Legislature. 
 
Bill 7, the Water Amendment Act, follows from the water availability engagement held earlier this year.  If
passed, the proposed act amendments will: 

streamline regulatory requirements; 
improve water monitoring and transparency; 
allow lower risk inter-basin transfers to be approved by the Minister; and, 
support the use of alternative water sources, including rainwater and wastewater. 

 
Information on the Bill 7 is online, including: 

News release at: Meeting Alberta's rising demand for water | alberta.ca
Legislation at:  https://www.assembly.ab.ca/assembly-business/bills/bills-by-legislature
The water availability engagement information at: www.alberta.ca/water-availability-engagement  

 
The proposed act changes enable future regulations and policy to be developed to enhance water
availability. Continued engagement is planned to inform policy development, such as related to
measurement and reporting.  
 
Thank you to those who submitted feedback on the proposed act changes earlier this year, and thank
you in advance for your continued involvement in engagement to enhance water availability.  
 
If you have questions on the tabled bill, please let me know or contact epa.water@gov.ab.ca.  
 

https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Frelease.cfm%3FxID%3D9552499A39A3C-B14E-D55A-485EC5EDA5A08BB6&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864711790%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=3vT2PMeC1ycXl8p38XMkkS9CLlNTnhBex7nSLRlRBVw%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fkings-printer.alberta.ca%2FDocuments%2FMinOrders%2F2025%2FEnvironment_and_Protected_Areas%2F2025_026_Environment_and_Protected_Areas.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864773926%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ccj3ZBM43dhutCnldg7nKCH6hUWE4YkdDxERYD5yd3M%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fkings-printer.alberta.ca%2FDocuments%2FMinOrders%2F2025%2FEnvironment_and_Protected_Areas%2F2025_026_Environment_and_Protected_Areas.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864773926%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ccj3ZBM43dhutCnldg7nKCH6hUWE4YkdDxERYD5yd3M%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fkings-printer.alberta.ca%2F1266.cfm%3Fpage%3D1998_205.cfm%26leg_type%3DRegs%26isbncln%3D9780779860036%26display%3Dhtml&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864829865%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ReRA6gX4WurH3mR%2BG%2BRrk5lsncKcvY%2F8RfqZwqIAN8c%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Frelease.cfm%3FxID%3D93708A605C426-BB15-9C8A-9AA46DBF81595A8F&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864884537%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=zeZY2tfwJ1ZfumDeLG6qjG3MTU%2FvYXJCMTy91tJBQuw%3D&reserved=0
mailto:epa.water@gov.ab.ca
mailto:kate.rich@gov.ab.ca
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Frelease.cfm%3FxID%3D951671F80CEA9-EB69-A573-91B66B228E1CDBCF&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864928361%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=1CDAgHYf9mzMiO0lzmw2OmF6%2BT1P3%2BdCaafZqvlMhOQ%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.assembly.ab.ca%2Fassembly-business%2Fbills%2Fbills-by-legislature&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274864970411%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=GFguYEkqu6I%2F9fLfHRSYUE9ufvjYZbw%2BquwHqrZuOn0%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Fwater-availability-engagement&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274865011715%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=oyx95ty98L%2BLOb2khp%2FdY5fYmYUN%2BdzBiFpRtU%2B0m58%3D&reserved=0
mailto:epa.water@gov.ab.ca


Kate 
Kathleen Rich 
Assistant Deputy Minister, Water and Circular Economy Division, Alberta Environment and Protected
Areas 
Government of Alberta 
Level 12, South Petroleum Plaza, 9915-108 Street, Edmonton, Alberta 
E: kate.rich@gov.ab.ca    I    M: 780-203-0844  
 
 
From: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Sent: April-29-25 10:21 AM
To: EPA Water <EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca>
Cc: Kate Rich <Kate.Rich@gov.ab.ca>; Gary Sandberg <gary.sandberg@gov.ab.ca>
Subject: Water Availability Engagement - Phase 2
 
Sent to: all municipal CAOs contacts in the Municipal Officials Directory
 
I am writing to inform you that the next phase of water availability engagement launched today. It focusses
on proposed changes to the Water Act and complementary policy to increase the availability of water licences to
Alberta municipalities, businesses, agricultural producers and others, while continuing to protect the aquatic
ecosystem.
 
Please see the attached letter with details.  Also, here are the links to the news release and to the engagement
website:

News release: Making every drop of water count | alberta.ca
Engagement site: Water availability engagement | Alberta.ca

 
Thank you for your feedback during the first phase to identify opportunities and barriers to enhance water
availability, and we appreciate your feedback on these proposals.
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me or EPA Water with any questions.  
 
Thanks.
 
Kate
Kathleen Rich
Assistant Deputy Minister, Water and Circular Economy Division, Alberta Environment and Protected Areas
Government of Alberta
Level 12, South Petroleum Plaza, 9915-108 Street, Edmonton, Alberta
E: kate.rich@gov.ab.ca    I    M: 780-203-0844
 
 

mailto:kate.rich@gov.ab.ca
mailto:EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca
mailto:EPA.Water@gov.ab.ca
mailto:Kate.Rich@gov.ab.ca
mailto:gary.sandberg@gov.ab.ca
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Frelease.cfm%3FxID%3D93203EB30C919-B5C6-B695-7BDD9AB0C5A557DF&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274865054964%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=YybZcZgqPEMRSKsX507aO%2B%2FLDKUqvTSdEJpeUN%2BVfBk%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.alberta.ca%2Fwater-availability-engagement&data=05%7C02%7CAdminExecAsst%40mdpinchercreek.ab.ca%7C09b85cf8acb942e4200508de584aaa84%7C199e33edd80f42e29d84d64c0b3dfdd7%7C1%7C0%7C639045274865098722%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=eLAjTuh9SIzQS90Zfdo63UMpyZC%2FSlprkXC2wTRLk2k%3D&reserved=0
mailto:kate.rich@gov.ab.ca


��������	�
����
��
��
������������������������� !!�"��#"����"!�#$��#%&�'!%���(#")!%*+,-./�01�234-.�5-�/�61�5�76�2�6/�-�16-.�83.�8�.5-.1��.��9:-.1��9355;�6/6-1��,;16�-11-1���<�-5-.2-�9=.-1>3�<-.1�/3�1/3.-���<�;1-�?�/-.@�A%�"B)��C#$�DEFGHI�JKHLMN-?���<�-O>��<-<�PQRST�UVR�-O-5>/63�1�?6++�6�9.-�1-�?�/-.��4�6+�,6+6/=��65>.34-�93�1-.4�/63���1;>>3./�2.69;+/;.�+�>.3<;9/63����<�:-+>�>.3/-9/�9355;�6/6-1�8.35�8;/;.-�-5-.2-�96-1@W;..-�/+=��5��=�<;23;/1��.-�16X-<�/33�15�++�/3�9�>/;.-��4�6+�,+-�?�/-.�,-9�;1-�38�����Y���9;,69�5-/.-�-O-5>/63�+656/@�Z88-9/64-�655-<6�/-+=��8�.5-.1���<�.��9:-.1�9���86++�/:-6.�<;23;/1�;>�/3�[�Y���9;,69�5-/.-1�\�/.6>+-�/:->.-463;1�+656/�\�>.346<-<�/:-�?�/-.�61�;1-<�83.��2.69;+/;.�+�>;.>31-1@�]:61�9:��2-�:-+>1�>.3/-9/�/:-5�8.35�8;/;.-<.3;2:/1���<�1;>>3./1�1/.3�2��2.69;+/;.�+�3>-.�/63�1@*̂+,-./��1��17-<�83.�>.�9/69�+�65>.34-5-�/1�/3�5�7-�53.-�?�/-.��4�6+�,+-����<�?-0.-�<-+64-.6�2@]:-1-�9:��2-1�5�7-�6/�-�16-.�83.�8�.5-.1��,;16�-11-1���<�9355;�6/6-1�/3��99-11���<�1/3.-�?�/-.@�_/01233<�83.�9355;�6/6-1��/:-�-�46.3�5-�/���<�/:-�-93�35=@̀aTQbR�cdbRSTe�fgbghRST�ij�kblgTibmSbR�Qbn�oTiRSVRSn�UTSQhp̂-+6�,+-��99-11�/3�?�/-.�61�-11-�/6�+�83.�*+,-./�01�8�.5-.1���<�.��9:-.1��-1>-96�++=��1�/:-=�5���2-<.3;2:/�.617���<�>+���83.�/:-�8;/;.-@�]:-1-�>.�9/69�+�9:��2-1�.-1>3�<�<6.-9/+=�/3�?:�/�>.3<;9-.1���<.;.�+�9355;�6/6-1�:�4-�,--���176�2�83.�\�5�76�2�6/�-�16-.�/3�1/3.-���<�;1-�?�/-.�.-1>3�16,+=�13�2.69;+/;.�+�3>-.�/63�1�9���.-5�6��1/.3�2��.-16+6-�/���<�>.3<;9/64-@qrsts�ugvdTnhibe�fgbghRST�ij�UvTgVdwRdTS�Qbn�xTTgvQRgib*+,-./�01�234-.�5-�/�61��+13�5�76�2�6/�-�16-.�83.�9355;�6/6-1���<�,;16�-11-1�/3�;1-�+-11�8.-1:�?�/-.�,=�;16�21/3.5?�/-.�6�1/-�<@�y�<-.�/:-��-?�-O-5>/63�1�����-?+=�93�1/.;9/-<�?-/+��<�?6++��+13�,-��,+-�/3�9�>/;.-���<�86++?6/:�;>�/3�[�Y���9;,69�5-/.-1�38�+39�+�1;.8�9-�.;�388�>-.�=-�.@�]:�/01���z��Y��9;,69�5-/.-�6�9.-�1-�8.35�/:->.-463;1�+656/��1;>>3./6�2�53.-�?-/+��<1��9.311�/:-�>.346�9-@{/:-.�9:��2-1�6�9+;<-�5�76�2�6/�-�1-.�/3|y1-�?�/-.�83.�,.6<2-��162��?�1:6�2���<�<;1/�93�/.3+@



���������	
��	����	

��������������
�����
�����	
�����
����������	�������������
�����������������	�
���

����
������

����������	
������
��
��������������������
�����
�	�������
��

�	����
��
��������	�
���	
��
����


�	���	

�	��
����
��
�


	�	�
������
��
�����	�������
�
�	��
����


�	��������
���������	�
� !"#$�%&#'(&#'"%)"*��������

��
��	�
��
+���


�	���������������
�	���	�������,
�	��	���
	���	

����������
���������
��
������	
���������	�������
������
������	�
����
�
������-.��
���
�	��������������
��	���	
�����
��
�	�����
�������������
�	����
��
���

��
�	����	
��/0123�452678
��
9

�	����:;��	��-..�������

	�
���
�������
��
�������������
���
�
�	��������	����������	���	�
���
��	
��	����
����	���������������
�����
�<��	
����
��������	��
����
����	��������������

��
9

�	����
��	�
 !"#$�%)"=�;��	��-�...�������

	�
���
������������	
�����
��
�����
����������	�������������
����������������	�
���

����
���������
��	�
�
���
�����������
�
�	������������
�	����	�����
	����������	
������
�;��	��-..�������

	�
���
�������
��
���������������
��������������������������	����	����>9����
��
9

�	����:?�	
����
����
��������	������

������
��
��	��@�A..�������

	�
���
���
��������
������	�����	�@�A..�������

	�
��������
�
����
�����	���	���������������
+���
�����
��	�
� !"#$�%)"B�C�
�

9

�	�����
��	�������
���
�������������	�����������
�����������
����
��	��
��	
��������������	��@�A..�������

	�
����	�������	�����������	��-A�...������

	�
����	�������	�������
�����
9

�	����
����
�������
+���


�	��C�
��
	���������	���	����
9

�	������������
��
��	��@�A..�������

	�
��C�
�
9

�	����������	
����
����	

���������
�����������
��
��	��D�A..�������

	�
���
���
���E�D.DA����
��

�	�������
�	����
�	����



��������	�
����
��
��
��������������������� �!��"#!��$%&&�'()(*+�,'-�.�+('*++*+�/,'�'%0�+1*'-�&%2*�)(&*�2*+)%2('3�0,)*2+4*-+�,'-��*++�)(&*�5(��('3�%�)�3%6*2'&*')5%2&+789�!:;<�=#>�?@AB	C�D�	��EF�����G�H
D�����B�
EI%�*'+�2*�)4,)�1�,')+�2*/*(6*�)4*�0,)*2�)4*J�'**-��K�.*2),�(+�2*&%6('3�)4*�2*L�(2*&*')�)%�4,6*�,�)*&1%2,2J-(6*2+(%'��(/*'/*�)%�0,)*2�1�,')+�,+�1,2)�%5�,�2(1,2(,'�2*+)%2,)(%'�12%M*/)7�I4(+�/4,'3*�0(���/�)��''*/*++,2J�2*-),1*��N**1�1�,')+�,�(6*�,'-�*'+�2*�)4*�)(&*�,'-�&%'*J�)4,)�/%&&�'()(*+�,'-�.�+('*++*+�1�)�(')%�0,)*2+4*-2*+)%2,)(%'�12%M*/)+�,2*�'%)�0,+)*-7I2,-()(%',��J��,��(/*'/*�4,+�.**'�2*L�(2*-�('�K�.*2),�)%�0,)*2�'*0�J�1�,')*-�)2**+��+42�.+��32,++*+�,'-�%)4*26*3*),)(%'�,�%'3�2(6*2+��/2**N+�,'-��,N*+7�I4(+�2*L�(2*&*')�&*,'+�)4,)�%)4*20(+*�4*,�)4J�1�,')+�/%��-�-(*�52%&�,/N�%5�0,)*2�(5�,��(/*'/*�/%��-�'%)�.*�%.),('*-�('�)(&*�-�*�)%�.�2*,�/2,)(/�-*�,J+��0,)*2�+4%2),3*+�%2�-2%�34)/%'-()(%'+�('�)4*�,2*,7
O�PQRSTUVQWXTXY�ZTTZ[S\ZQ]�P̂P\X_�S\�S�TZVSTZS]TXP\QTS\ZQ]�PZ\X�SRQ][�\̀X�aRbQW�cZdXT�Z]�eSR[ST̂feTXYZ\g�hXSi�jZ]kSPlmn2**-%&�)%�0,)*2�(+�,.%�)�/�))('3�)42%�34�)4*�/��))*2�%5�.�2*,�/2,/J�+%�2*,��0%2N�/,'�4,11*'7�I4(+/4,'3*�+)%1+�)4*�0,+)*��*'-+�)4*�-*�,J+�,'-��*)+�/%&&�'()(*+�5%/�+�%'�2*+)%2('3�K�.*2),o+�2(6*2+�/2**N+�,'-��,N*�.,'N+�p�'%)�5(��('3�%�)�5%2&+7q



�����������	
���
������������������������������������������������ !"#$!"#%���� ��&'"��%"(�)*+, +$�)*+�(+ -%�- ./�-*!!*#0�"#�"�+�( +� #�+"�%*+ %�*#��#�1.2"+% 3�������!(."�-� #'"�,�..�+"$&-"�).**$� #$�$+*&'�%�+��4/�(+*%"-%�*&+�, %"+��"$�� #$�"#�&+"�1.2"+% 5�+"�%*+ %�*#�"))*+%�� +"�+"��.�"#%� #$�"))"-%�6"3�7"� ((. &$�%�"�1.2"+% �'*6"+#!"#%�)*+�.��%"#�#'�%*+"�%*+ %�*#�(+ -%�%�*#"+�/�-&%%�#'�+"$�% ("� #$�$".�6"+�#'� ��*.&%�*#�%� %�2"#")�%��2*%��%�""#6�+*#!"#%� #$�1.2"+% #�38�����9�����	:���������:��	�������������������	������;����<��=��>�( +� #�+"�%*+ %�*#�(+*?"-%�� +"�-+&-� .�)*+�"@( #$�#'/�+"( �+�#'� #$�+"?&6"# %�#'�"-*�A�%"!��#" +�, %"+�2*$�"�3��"�+"B&�+"!"#%�%*�� 6"� �%"!(*+ +A�$�6"+��*#�.�-"#-"�! $"�%�����!(*+% #%�,*+4�!*+"�$�))�-&.%�2A� $$�#' $$�%�*# .�-*�%��*#%*��! ..�-*!( #�"�� #$�*+' #�C %�*#�� #$�$". A�#'�(+*?"-%��,��."�, �%�#'�)*+�.�-"#-"�3�D%� .�*!" #%�%� %��)� �.�-"#-"�-*&.$�#*%�2"�*2% �#"$�*+�, %"+���*+% '"��,"+"��""#��#� #� +" /�, %"+�� $�%*�2"�%+&-4"$��#/*+�%�"�(. #%��,"+"�.")%�%*�$�"3�E&+�'*6"+#!"#%����(." �"$�%*��&((*+%�%�"��!(*+% #%�,*+4�*)�+"�%*+�#'�+�( +� #� +" �� #$��!(+*6�#'%�"��" .%��*)�*&+�+�6"+�3�1..*,�#'� ��! ..�B& #%�%A�*)�, %"+�%*�2"�&�"$�,�%�*&%� �.�-"#-"�,�..��".("�% 2.�����" .%�A/�.&���6"'"% %�*#� .*#'�(+"6�*&�.A�$"'+ $"$�+�6"+2 #4�� #$��".(�! 4"�%�"�"(+*?"-%���&--"��)&.�*6"+�%�"�.*#'�%"+!38�F�����G	����������������
�����������H�����IA�-&%%�#'�&##"-"�� +A�+"$�% ("/�,"5+"�"!(*,"+�#'�-*!!&#�%�"�� #$�"-*.*'�- .�+"�%*+ %�*#�'+*&(�%*�)*-&��*#�,� %�+" ..A�! %%"+�J�+"�%*+�#'�1.2"+% 5��, %"+��"$�3������-� #'"�,�..�"#�&+"�%� %�%�"�+� +$�,*+4� #$��#6"�%!"#%�,*#5%�2"�.*�%�%*�2&+" &-+ %�-�$". A�/� ..*,�#'�!*+"�%�!"�%*�)*-&��*#�".(�#'�(. #%��%�+�6"� #$�*&+�"#6�+*#!"#%�).*&+���38K�
��<�

L��
��������������������
��������������M�N�����	�����7�%��%�"�+"!*6 .�*)�%�"�+"B&�+"!"#%�%*�� 6"� �%"!(*+ +A�$�6"+��*#�.�-"#-"/�!*+"�+"�%*+ %�*#�(+*?"-%��,�..�2"� 2."%*� $ (%�%*�-� #'�#'�-*#$�%�*#�3�D#� $$�%�*#�%*�%�"�+"!*6 .�*)�%�"�%"!(*+ +A�$�6"+��*#�.�-"#-"�+"B&�+"!"#%/�%�"+" +"�#",��#$&�%+A0."$�%"-�#*.*'�"��.�4"��*. +0(*,"+"$�$+�(��A�%"!��%� %�! 4"�, %"+�#'�!*+"�"))�-�"#%�%� #�"6"+ #$�+"$&-"�%�"� !*&#%�*)�, %"+�#""$"$3��OPQRS�TURVWX��"�"@"!(%�*#�*#.A� ((.�"��%*��! ..�(+*?"-%��-*#�&!�#'�#*�!*+"�%� #�YZZ�-&2�-�!"%+"��("+�$ A/�)*+�, %"+%� %�,�..�2"�&�"$�%*��&((*+%�%�"�'+*,%�� #$�"�% 2.���!"#%�*)�(. #%�� .*#'� �, %"+-*&+�"�*+�, %"+�2*$A3[%+*#'/��" .%�A�6"'"% %�*#� +*&#$�, %"+, A���".(��+"�%*+"�# %�6"�� 2�% %�/�(+"6"#%��"+*��*#�%*�+�6"+2 #4�/�% 2�.�C"��#" +2A�. #$� #$��!(+*6"��, %"+�B& .�%A31.2"+% 5��7 %"+��"$�>"��.�"#-A� #$�>"�%*+ %�*#�\+*'+ !�(+*6�$"��'+ #%��%*�+"�%*+"�+�6"+2 #4�� #$�+�( +� # +" �� -+*���%�"�(+*6�#-"3



���������	
��
����	����������������������������������������� ��!"�#$#%�&'()*+,)+-�'.�/01)*-2/01)*-2342


	A  Council Agenda
	C1 2025-01-13 Council Committee Meeting
	C2 2026-01-13  meeting minutes
	F1a CACP_CommunityMeetingPoster_2026
	F1a2 Board Report - December 2025
	G1a PW Report
	G1b 2026-01-27 UI Brief
	G1c Oldman Reservoir
	G1d Cridland Dam Report
	G1d 1770-037 Cridland Dam Assessment
	G1d Cridland Dam Hydrotechnical Assessment Final
	G2a Tax Penalty
	C3b Recommendation to Council Land Use Bylaw 1368-26
	G3b Bylaw 1368-26
	G4a CAO Report
	G4a2 Admin Support Report
	G4b Corp Policy 
	H1a1 CARE
	H1a2 Registration Form
	H1b Question for Motion for Pincher Creek MD Council - Jessica McClelland - Outlook
	H1c Spring 2026 Rural Municipalities of Alberta Convention
	H2a Recognition of Participating CEIP Communities for Emerald Awards for Environmental Excellence - Jessica McClelland - Outlook
	H2b  Water (Ministerial) Regulation Change - Exemptions to support water availability - Jessica McClelland - Outlook
	H2b2 New rules boost water storage and conservation _ alberta
	H2b3 Freedom to water _ alberta
	Ja1 Ag Service Board 
	Ja2 Ag Service Board letter
	Jb Request for Use of Closed Alleyway
	Jc Road Closure Request_Beemsterboer
	Jd Road Closure ResolutionFullerton - SW 23-9-1 W5



